

Politecnico di Torino

Master's degree in Environmental and Land Engineering A.A. 2023/2024 Graduation session: March-April 2024

"Numerical Modeling of Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) Systems"

Advisors: Prof. Alessandro Casasso **Candidate:** Ameneh Darban (ID 289892)

Table of Contents

A	BSTR	АСТ	4
1	In	roduction	6
	1.1	Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR)	9
	1.1	1 Applications of MAR systems	9
	1.1	2 MAR type specification	12
	1.2	Simulation and Modeling	15
	1.3	Off-Season Groundwater recharge	16
	1.4	Groundwater Modeling	
2	M	ethodology	22
	2.1	Model Design in MODFLOW	22
	2.1	1 Properties and Initial Data	22
	2.1	2 Boundary conditions	24
	2.2	Model (Sensitivity Analysis) Scenarios	26
	2.2	1 The Base Model	28
	2.2	2 The Definition of The Recharge Basin	29
	2.2	3 Change in The Shape of The Recharge Basin	32
	2.2	4 Change in The Dimensions of The Recharge Basin	
	2.2	5 Change in The Relative Distance of The Recharge Basin and The Well	
	2.2	6 Change in The Hydraulic Conductivity	35
3	Di	scussion and Results	37
	3.1	Model Outcomes With Base Model's (Moderate) Hydraulic Conductivity	
	3.1	1 Effect of Introducing The Basin	40
	3.1	2 Effect of Change in The Shape of The Basin	45
	3.1	3 Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin	46
	3.1	4 Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well	50
	3.2	Model Outcomes with Low Hydraulic Conductivity	54
	3.2	1 Effect of Introducing The Basin	56
	3.2	2 Effect of Change in The Shape of The Basin	61
	3.2	3 Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin	61
	3.2	4 Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well	64
	3.3	Model Outcomes with High Hydraulic Conductivity	67

	3.3.1	Effect of Introducing The Basin	70
	3.3.2	Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin	73
	3.3.3	Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well	74
	3.4	Hydraulic Head Gain and Its Effect on Increasing The Abstraction Rate	76
	3.5	Comparing Model Outcomes under Varied Hydraulic Conductivity Conditions	78
4	Con	clusions	80
Re	eferenc	es	81

ABSTRACT

Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) involves the deliberate addition of water to an aquifer with the intention of storing and subsequently recovering it. This method serves to replenish depleted groundwater reserves, enhance water quality, and address issues related to overdraft or contamination. MAR employs various techniques, including injection wells, infiltration basins, or spreading grounds, to introduce water into the subsurface, aiming to restore or sustain groundwater levels and enhance overall aquifer sustainability.

This thesis utilized numerical modeling to examine MAR, employing the finite-difference numerical code MODFLOW with the Visual MODFLOW GUI. The study focused on a typical MAR scenario involving an infiltration basin receiving water out of the the irrigation season and a well extracting water during the irrigation season. Simulation results demonstrated that water infiltration led to increased groundwater levels, consequently enhancing groundwater availability during the irrigation season. A sensitivity analysis explored influential factors, such as the size of the infiltration basin, the quantity of infiltrated water, the basin's shape, and its distance from the well. Additionally, a surplus effort was made to investigate the effect of these factors by employing different values of hydraulic conductivity to encompass a broader range of possibilities.

The findings highlighted that the volume of infiltrated water and the relative distance between the well and basin were the most impactful parameters on the production well's performance. Conversely, the shape of the basin had a negligible role in simulation outcomes, and, notably, the basin's area, when applying the same volume of water, exhibits minimal impact on the results. As the area decreases, there is a slight enhancement in the rise of water levels, albeit negligible. This observation still holds significance, as aligning with the importance of maintaining a minimal basin area due to land use considerations. In terms of efficiency, the simulated MAR method demonstrated the highest productivity in low-conductive aquifers.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am profoundly grateful to those who have been instrumental in the completion of this thesis.

Foremost, my deepest appreciation goes to my advisor, Professor Alessandro Casasso. His unwavering support, invaluable guidance, and insightful feedback have been the cornerstones of this research journey. Professor Casasso's expertise and encouragement have shaped the trajectory of this work, and for that, I am sincerely thankful.

To my Maman and Baba, your boundless support transcended the physical distance. Your unwavering encouragement and wholehearted backing sustained me throughout, and I am immensely grateful.

My heartfelt thanks extend to my sisters (Hani, Hedi, Feri), my brother (Mohammad), and my friends who provided constant encouragement and understanding during the challenging phases of this academic endeavor. Your support has been a pillar of strength.

A COMALA; desidero esprimere la mia profonda gratitudine a te, La Mia Casa Lontano Da Casa. Nei primi giorni in cui ero una straniera a Torino, mi hai accolto. Più di un luogo, sei diventato il mio rifugio, un luogo in cui mi sentivo al sicuro e veramente a casa. Ti ringrazio con ogni lacrima che una straniera potrebbe versare lontano dal suo paese e dalla sua famiglia. Sei e sarai una parte importante della mia vita che non dimenticherò mai.

> To Maman and Baba, my dearest parents, Azizanam, this thesis is dedicated to you two.

> > With Eshgh (Love), Ami

1 Introduction

Climate change, fast urbanization, and population growth all contribute to fluctuations in water demand and supply [1]. Climate change is projected to disrupt the balance of water demand and availability, perhaps resulting in reduced water supply and changing water usage patterns. Rapid urbanization causes localized increases in water demand, making it difficult to satisfy the goals for providing safe and inexpensive water supply, particularly in dry regions. Population growth and urbanization patterns are also major drivers of rising water demand, while climate change is expected to reduce water supplies. These variables together contribute to water scarcity, where demand exceeds availability, providing challenges for sustainable water security and necessitating the development of alternate water sources [2]-[6]. Arid and semi-arid areas, for instance, are facing water depletion from surface water along with overexploitation of groundwater from increased abstraction [7], [8]. The practice of storing water in surface reservoirs is widespread, but it comes with several disadvantages, including the fact that there is high evaporation loss, the requirement for extended land areas, the accumulation of sediment, the possibility of structural failure, and the vulnerability to contamination [9], [10]. The dependence of communities on groundwater might vary seasonally or episodically. Groundwater is an important resource for human populations, especially during times of water scarcity. In certain areas, communities may rely on groundwater only during dry seasons or droughts, when surface water sources are limited. Furthermore, groundwater dependence might be episodic, resulting from specific events or situations, such as extended droughts or the depletion of surface water sources [11]. This unpredictability in dependence emphasizes the significance of sustainable groundwater management in ensuring human community resilience, particularly during periods of limited water availability [12]. Thus, during seasons of low demand or abundant availability, additional water can be preserved underground rather than on the surface [13]. This strategy involves deliberately storing water below during wet periods and recovering it when needed.

Managed aquifer recharge allows water to be "banked" underground, reducing the impact of evaporation and facilitating the recycling of water from multiple sources [14]. Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) involves purposefully injecting and storing water into an aquifer with the intention of subsequent recovery with environmental advantages. This comprehensive technique is versatile, finding applications in both potable water and wastewater treatment, often integrated with engineered treatment systems [15]. MAR serves various purposes, including supplying drinking water, providing process water for industries, supporting irrigation, and sustaining groundwater-dependent ecosystems. Effective pre-treatment before

recharge and post-treatment after recovery ensure the suitability of the water for its intended use. MAR leverages natural subsurface processes like mechanical filtering, sorption, and biodegradation, eliminating the need for additional chemicals and demonstrating sustained effectiveness over extended periods [16].

MAR refers to a suite of methods that are increasingly being used to maintain, enhance, and secure the balance of groundwater systems under stress [17]. The MAR method and technology strategically contribute to tackling the environmental changes and extreme weather events resulting from climate change, overpopulation, pollution, and the increasingly prevalent challenges associated with global water scarcity [18], [19]. Numerous sites around the globe have already implemented this water management approach, which are extensively documented in scientific literature, showcasing its relevance and effectiveness [20]–[22].

Even countries with abundant water resources are facing water scarcity due to climate change, overpopulation, and pollution. Although there may be a number of specific reasons for this – e.g., aging infrastructure and distribution systems, pollution, political/economic conflict or mismanagement of water resources – it is clear that climate change and the resulting deteriorating social factors are providing increasingly unfavourable conditions for the supply of clean drinking water for the population, for maintaining a balanced water management framework, and for providing the basis for a liveable social environment. Furthermore, the significant increase in water consumption around the world, as well as the concomitant pollution of water, pose serious challenges to both developed and developing nations. For this reason, it is crucial also for developed societies to strengthen the framework for prudent and far-sighted water management [18].

The International Groundwater Resources Assessment Centre (IGRAC) [23] hosts an interactive map [24] that compiles over a thousand managed aquifer recharge (MAR) case studies from over 50 countries [25]. Figure 1-1 illustrates the Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) case studies and implemented projects worldwide in 2024. This method is becoming an increasingly attractive water management option for the replenishment of depleting aquifers, especially in arid and semi-arid regions with limited surface water supplies. More than 224 currently active Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) projects in 23 European countries exist providing significant volumes of water for drinking and irrigation purposes [26].



Figure 1-1 The global managed aquifer recharge inventory [25].

To conduct calculations for predicting groundwater flow, groundwater experts rely on computer models, which simulate and predict aquifer conditions based on established mathematical principles in hydrogeology. This modeling is crucial for ensuring that construction projects comply with environmental permitting requirements and for providing insights into necessary design modifications in advance. The technology is flexible and applicable to different scales, making it a valuable tool for managing groundwater resources and sustainable development. Groundwater models, with their ability to estimate flows and aquifer characteristics, are especially useful when direct measurements are unavailable. They also play a pivotal role in simulating the aquifer's response under hypothetical conditions. This comprehensive understanding of groundwater flow is fundamental to preventing adverse effects on nearby wetlands, bodies of water, or neighboring wells [27]–[29].

The need for simulation and modeling processes emanates from the importance of reducing the uncertainties and risks of failure of costly operations [30]. The process of simulation enables the anticipation of fluid displacement within reservoirs, providing engineers with valuable insights to develop economically efficient and less risky designs. To engage in simulation, a prerequisite is to possess an appropriate model. The model employed in simulation procedures should accurately mirror the behavior and properties exhibited by the real reservoir [31].

Modeling serves various purposes in the context of Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR). It can be employed for scenario analysis, predicting future outcomes, comparing different MAR techniques, and evaluating various operational schemes. While adaptive approaches, such as trial and error, are valuable, modeling provides a systematic and efficient means to estimate the feasibility of a MAR method at a specific location. Due to its flexibility, a model-based preliminary assessment is often advisable before conducting pilot field experiments. This approach helps in optimizing resources, minimizing risks, and ensuring a more informed and strategic implementation of MAR methods [17,18]. Building a proper model for the means of simulation is a time-consuming process that necessitates a detailed dataset. However, the range of potential applications, such as scenario and sensitivity analyses, can justify the effort [32].

The most commonly used models for simulating groundwater flow are MODFLOW, FEFLOW, SEAWAT, HST3D and PHAST. The majority of applied models are not explicitly tailored for MAR applications. Nevertheless, the prevailing choice for groundwater flow and saturated flow modeling is MODFLOW as reported in the literature [33]. Therefore, in this study, we have opted to employ MODFLOW (Waterloo Hydrogeologic, United States Geological Survey (USGS) team, USA) to build the geological model and to address the objectives and parameters relevant to our investigation.

1.1 Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR)

The primary goal of Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) is to augment the storage of groundwater, addressing the temporal disparity between local water demand and availability. This ensures a consistent and reliable supply of drinking or irrigation water throughout the year [33], [34]. Once the MAR site has been identified, taking into account constraints such as the availability of water, hydrogeological characteristics and regulations, five steps are usually necessary [35]: - a preliminary evaluation of the feasibility of a recharge system at the chosen site based on existing data or modelling;

- designing the recharge system;

- carrying out a detailed study of the site in order to validate or supplement the results obtained in the first step;

- building a pilot or experimental system at a scale that makes it possible to carry out preliminary tests;

- extrapolation to an operational scale.

1.1.1 Applications of MAR systems

According to the reports from the United Nations 2021 [36], the present global scenario reveals the following key observations:

- Approximately four billion individuals, constituting nearly two-thirds of the world's population, experience severe water shortages for at least one month annually.
- Over two billion people reside in countries where water supplies are inadequate.
- It is anticipated that by 2025, half of the world's population might inhabit regions facing water scarcity.
- Projections suggest that by 2030, around 700 million individuals could be compelled to abandon their residences due to acute water shortages.
- Looking ahead to 2040, roughly one in four children worldwide is expected to inhabit areas impacted by severe water shortages.

These concerning findings have given rise to a new paradigm in recent years, emphasizing sustainable water management. Several strategic approaches, primarily centered around enhancing water-use efficiency, promoting water recovery, and advocating for water reuse and recycling, have been developed. The overarching goal of these approaches is to meet current water demands while safeguarding future water resources and ensuring their continued availability [36]. Managed water recovery, aligned with these principles, presents a promising opportunity to utilize reclaimed water for agricultural, industrial, or even domestic purposes. Implementing these strategies widely holds the potential for significant advancements in establishing a more sustainable framework for water management [37].

MAR emerges as a crucial solution, underscoring its strategic significance in confronting the multifaceted challenges of climate change, overpopulation, pollution, and the growing threat of global water scarcity. More specifically, this methodology finds practical application in supporting and enhancing groundwater quality, quantity, and environmental management efforts [38]. More specific objectives include [39]:

Water Quality:

- Enhancing water quality in degraded aquifers by addressing issues like nutrient reduction from agricultural pollution and preventing seawater intrusions.
- Reducing the concentration of geogenic pollutants such as fluoride or arsenic.
- Minimizing the need for extensive water treatment through the utilization of natural purification processes, such as riverbank filtration.

Water Quantity:

- Storing water in aquifers for future utilization, such as water supply.
- Addressing seasonal peak water demand induced by e.g. irrigation season, tourism activities.

- Elevating groundwater levels in over-exploited aquifers.

Environmental Management:

- Preventing storm runoff and soil erosion.
- Preserving environmental flows in rivers and streams.
- Mitigating floods and flood-related damages.
- Controlling seawater intrusions.
- Reducing land subsidence.
- Providing hydraulic control of contaminant plumes.
- Increasing groundwater levels to sustain or enhance the status of groundwater-dependent terrestrial ecosystems.

The adoption of MAR serves a dual role, addressing both environmental sustainability and economic considerations. It is utilized to alleviate water table drawdown, restrict seawater intrusion, and enhance depleted groundwater reserves by replenishing aquifers with surplus surface water [40]. This method not only aids in maintaining environmental sustainability through the replenishment of groundwater resources but also it possesses economical potential for securing a dependable water supply for diverse needs, encompassing agriculture and urban water demand [41].

Furthermore, MAR has gained recognition as a socially acceptable, cost-effective, robust, and environmentally friendly approach to water management. This highlights its capacity to address economic considerations while concurrently promoting sustainable water practices [41], [42]. Nevertheless, the economic feasibility of this technology hinges on precise siting and cost assessments, introducing elements of uncertainty into the implementation of MAR schemes. Despite the potential economic benefits, the absence of a definitive economic rationale for investing in the construction and operation of MAR systems has been acknowledged as a barrier to its widespread implementation [43].

Around the world, MAR initiatives have been established and executed with the aim of enhancing the resilience of groundwater resources. This mirrors the environmental advantages associated with deliberate groundwater replenishment. Furthermore, MAR has swiftly gained recognition as an effective approach for repurposing stormwater or treated sewage effluent, supporting both non-potable and indirect potable reuse. This, in turn, contributes significantly to the conservation of natural resources and the establishment of a sustainable water supply [44].

1.1.2 MAR type specification

The nature of the water designated for recharge is a crucial factor to contemplate, involving various sources such as stormwater, treated wastewater, or excess surface water. Each water source demands particular treatment processes to adhere to quality standards before the recharge process, and the design of the system must correspond with the selected water treatment methodology [45], [46]. The selected recharge method also has a substantial impact on the total design and efficiency of the MAR system. Choosing the right method for recharging depends on various factors like the permeability of the soil, characteristics of the aquifer, and the available space to implement the project [47]. Furthermore, the system design is significantly influenced by the intended use of the reclaimed water; Whether it's for uses like potable water, agricultural irrigation, or industrial uses, it is crucial to design the system to meet the specific requirements, ensuring both the quality and quantity of the recovered water that align with the final applications [48]. Therefore, the selection of the recharge method and the design of the system must align with the specific characteristics of the site and the quality of the water source to ensure the effectiveness and sustainability of MAR projects.

Essentially, creating a successful MAR system requires a thorough understanding of various factors, including geography, hydrogeology, water source, treatment, recharge method, and intended use. These elements work together to shape the design of a sustainable and efficient MAR system that is customized to meet the specific characteristics and needs of the particular location.

Based on Dillon et al. 2009, the MAR method can be classified into the main following technologies [1]:

- Aquifer Storage and Recovery (ASR): Utilizing the same well for injection and extraction, the ASR technique involves directly replenishing surface water into an aquifer for later recovery and usage. This technique is considered economical and has a negligible influence on the environment. ASR, with controlled recharge, has proven particularly helpful for saline aquifers, as seen in the Netherlands, where it has successfully reduced groundwater salinity. The main goal of ASR is to store water in aquifers for future use as drinking water, and the utilization of treated wastewater for urban stormwater storage and agriculture.
- Aquifer Storage Transfer and Recovery (ASTR): represents a more specialized iteration of Aquifer Storage and Recovery (ASR) technology, introducing a distinct approach to water management. This method revolves around the recharge of water into a designated

well for subsequent storage and retrieval from a separate well. ASTR distinguishes itself by its focus on enhancing water quality through the prolonged residence time of water within the aquifer. This extended duration facilitates additional purification processes through the natural deposits within the aquifer, presenting a technical solution that holds particular significance for urban drinking water supply.

- The Shallow (Vadose Zone) Wells: involves deploying near-surface wells within the vadose zone, also referred to as dry wells. These wells strategically tap into the substantial space between the topographic surface and the saturated zone of groundwater. This method serves various purposes, including facilitating drainage in mountainous regions, mitigating soil erosion, and efficiently recovering rainwater that has accumulated over time. By harnessing the extensive space available in the vadose zone, these shallow wells contribute significantly to sustainable water management practices, addressing specific environmental challenges in regions characterized by uneven topography and variable precipitation patterns.
- Rainwater Harvesting: diverts rainwater to a well, facilitating its natural seepage into groundwater for later extraction through pumping. This efficient process filters rainwater, contributing to a balanced hydrological cycle in urban areas. By capturing and utilizing rainwater, this technique ensures a sustainable water supply and helps alleviate strain on conventional sources.
- Bank Filtration: employed along the banks of rivers and lakes, is a water management technique that stimulates the infiltration of surface water into associated coastal or floodplain aquifers using pumping mechanisms. This approach enhances the natural filtration process, resulting in a considerable improvement in the quality of the extracted water. The high-quality water obtained through Bank Filtration makes it an ideal technological solution for meeting the drinking water needs of riverside settlements. This method not only ensures a reliable and clean water supply but also minimizes the environmental impact, making it a sustainable choice for communities situated along water bodies.
- Infiltration Basins: serve as widely adopted devices to capture stormwater runoff and replenish groundwater. These methods entail the utilization of shallow basins filled with permeable materials for the storage and infiltration of water. The efficacy of these technologies is heavily reliant on soil textural properties and subsurface heterogeneity, with their performance being influenced by factors such as vadose zone thickness and

the distribution of subsurface heterogeneity. Infiltration basins are prominent among MAR techniques, aiming to optimize infiltration into unconfined aquifers by evenly spreading and retaining water across mostly level terrain. These techniques prove particularly suitable for unconfined aquifers characterized by permeable sedimentary rocks and fractured crystalline rocks, exhibiting enhanced effectiveness in flat or gently sloped terrains where infiltration is facilitated, and clogging is minimized.

- Infiltration Ditches and Channels: involve water seeping through the bottom of ditches, requiring a smaller occupied area compared to infiltrating basins. This method has a reduced risk of clogging due to a lower occurrence of algal blooms and the increased permeability of channel deposits compared to sediments in quiet-water conditions.
- Dune Filtration: employs the infiltration of surface water to a shallow depth through drilled wells in constructed lakes within coastal dunes, a technique predominantly practiced in the Netherlands. This approach is primarily employed for water purification and to establish a reliable drinking water supply.
- Leaky Dams: constructed as low-head dams on intermittent, mostly mountainous streams, facilitate water infiltration into aquifers, mitigating seasonal floods and decelerating the stream's flow rate.
- Sand Storage Dams: constructed in the beds of intermittent mountain streams and smaller watercourses, enable the natural accumulation of sediment. This retention of rainwater improves groundwater recharge and serves as a source of drinking water along the river, with the added benefit of evaporation avoidance or reduction in this method. The construction of these dams is a carefully planned intervention to harness the natural process of sediment retention, transforming it into a sustainable method for creating localized aquifer-like conditions.

Each MAR approach is specifically constructed to complement the specific geological, hydrological, and environmental characteristics of its intended location, offering a variety of strategies for long-term groundwater resource enhancement. The selection of a particular MAR technique is inextricably tied to a thorough understanding of elements like as soil composition, aquifer dynamics, and the broader objectives of regional water management. This personalized approach guarantees that the chosen technology blends perfectly with the natural circumstances of the area, maximizing efficacy while reducing any environmental consequences. The thorough examination of these various criteria highlights the adaptability and precision required when implementing MAR efforts to meet the unique needs and constraints of each location.

1.2 Simulation and Modeling

Numerous operational systems are intricately linked and influenced by both variability and complexity, encompassing both combinatorial and dynamic aspects. Predicting the performance of systems facing any one of these challenges is challenging. When systems are potentially subject to all three—variability, interconnectedness, and complexity—the difficulty in making accurate predictions becomes even more pronounced, if not seemingly impossible. Simulation models, however, possess the capability to explicitly represent the intricacies of variability, interconnectedness, and complexity methods, simulations enable the anticipation of system performance, facilitate the comparison of various system designs, and allow for the assessment of the impact of alternative policies on overall system performance [32]. A model is a simplified representation of an actual system and the phenomena occurring within it. It serves to simulate, in an approximate manner, the relationships between the system's excitation and response that are of interest [49].

Modeling serves a multifaceted set of objectives, each playing a crucial role in various applications. These objectives encompass a broad spectrum of purposes and functions, contributing to the effectiveness and utility of the modeling process. Some of the key objectives are summarized as follows:

- Anticipating the system's response to management decisions;
- Estimating various resources by comprehensively understanding the characteristics of the system under study;
- Supplying essential information for regulatory compliance;
- Furnishing insights for designing monitoring networks or field experiments through the prediction of the system's future behavior.

The diagram below illustrates a step-by-step flowchart outlining the necessary procedures for constructing a model that is prepared for simulation.



Figure 1-2 Flowchart depicting the process of constructing a simulation model [49].

1.3 Off-Season Groundwater recharge

Emphasizing the importance of sustainable groundwater management, the water resources community notes that over one-fourth of the world's population and 40% of global agricultural production rely on unsustainable groundwater extraction [50]. The increasing demand for water, driven by factors such as population growth, rising living standards, and the expansion of irrigated agriculture, contributes to groundwater overexploitation in regions where surface water is only available seasonally or scarce [2]. Simultaneously, climate change models predict an escalation in the magnitude and frequency of extreme precipitation events, including multi-year droughts and floods [51].

Options for increasing reservoir storage in developed regions are limited and prohibitively expensive. Projected increases in demand call for new long-term water storage to help sustain agriculture, municipalities, industry, and ecological services. MAR is becoming an integral component of water resources around the world. However, MAR faces challenges, including infrastructure costs, difficulty in enhancing recharge, water quality issues, and lack of available water supplies [52], [53].

More specifically, regarding agricultural lands an off-season irrigation approach has been introduced over a decade ago, a promising MAR approach, toward enhancing recharge to aquifers within agricultural lands during periods of excess surface water, referred to as Ag-MAR [54]–[56]. This approach also known as agricultural groundwater banking, on-farm recharge, or

flood-flow capture [54], during non-cultivation season, seeks to redirect surplus surface water directly onto farmland during periods of the rainy season, snowmelt, or reservoir releases with the goal of replenishing groundwater. The implementation of Ag-MAR across extensive agricultural areas has several benefits where much larger quantities of recharge can be achieved, in contrast to localized methods like well injection, which are constrained by well capacity and groundwater mounding [52]. Furthermore, Ag-MAR represents a secondary use of agricultural land that is primarily used for agricultural production [57]. However, The impacts of Ag-MAR on crop yield and health, encompassing post-flooding considerations such as pest management [57]; the percolation of legacy nitrogen, salts, pathogens, and naturally occurring inorganic contaminants like arsenic (As) into groundwater [54], [58]; and the potential waterlogging of agricultural lands near Ag-MAR sites, giving rise to hypoxic or anoxic conditions [59].

In the context of this research, we have explored the concept of off-season recharge, deviating from the conventional Ag-MAR approach by initiating the recharge process upstream of the farmland. The key distinction lies in the introduction of a strategically positioned recharge basin, located at a distance from the agricultural fields. This approach offers a notable advantage over Ag-MAR by virtue of the basin being located away from agricultural fields. This spatial separation eliminates the potential issue of pesticide infiltration associated with Ag-MAR. Moreover, the distance between the basin and the farmland facilitates the natural purification of infiltrated water as it traverses this spatial gap.

What sets this methodology apart is firstly, the placement of the basin, situated away from the farmland, in contrast to Ag-MAR, where the farmland itself serves as the infiltration site, and secondly, its intentional alignment with the non-farming season, spanning from October to April. This time frame corresponds to periods of heightened precipitation, resulting in elevated surface water levels and, at times, potential flooding. This deliberate synchronization with the non-farming season provides a distinctive opportunity to leverage and strategically channel excess water. Precisely during this period of increased precipitation and surface water abundance, our approach involves injecting surplus water into the basin. The objective is to facilitate the percolation of this water through the soil layers to reach the underlying aquifer. By doing so, we aim to make optimal use of and strategically manage the excess water, capitalizing on its potential to replenish the aquifer underground.

Moreover, this off-season recharge mechanism allows the surplus water, injected during periods of agricultural inactivity, to gradually traverse the intervening distance and eventually reach the pumping well situated within the farmland. By strategically implementing this distant recharge basin upstream of the agricultural land, we aim to effectively address issues related to groundwater depletion and counteract head loss in the pumping well.

The objective of this research is not only the utilization of excess water resources but also to strategically contribute to the sustainable management of groundwater in agricultural settings. The deliberate timing and spatial considerations in the off-season recharge strategy aim to ensure that the replenishing water efficiently compensates for groundwater depletion, ultimately enhancing the overall resilience and productivity of agricultural systems.

1.4 Groundwater Modeling

Groundwater modeling is an essential process that involves converting intricate physical flow systems into mathematical representations. This methodology provides a conceptual understanding of hydrological challenges, enabling researchers and practitioners to analyze and address complex groundwater dynamics [60]. These models play a pivotal role in simulating and predicting conditions within aquifers, offering a comprehensive depiction of natural groundwater flow in the environment. Groundwater flow models, essentially mathematical depictions of groundwater movement through aquifers, are indispensable tools despite not capturing the full complexity of real-world systems. They prove invaluable in estimating flows and aquifer characteristics, enabling the simulation of responses under hypothetical scenarios. This capacity aids in identifying sensitive areas, where additional hydrologic insights can enhance understanding [61], [62].

Groundwater modeling's role is indispensable in comprehending and managing groundwater resources. It furnishes critical insights for decision-making in water management and environmental protection, underscoring its paramount importance in sustainable resource utilization. The development of a conceptual model is a pivotal stage in groundwater modeling, undergoing mathematical analysis to produce a simplified representation of the hydrogeological system. This streamlined version facilitates the prediction, testing, and comparison of various feasible alternatives [63].

The demand for predicting the regional impacts of human activities on groundwater systems has driven significant advances in regional groundwater flow modeling. The availability of innovative software packages and increased computational power have further fueled interest in this field [64]. To analyze regional groundwater flow systems, transient groundwater models are employed, simulating conditions at a broader scale. These mathematical equation-based computer-generated models provide scenarios based on specific assumptions and input values. The effectiveness of regional groundwater models relies on accurate input parameters and boundary conditions. Variations in these inputs can lead to dramatic changes in model output, emphasizing the need for precision in model calibration [65].

The versatility and comprehensiveness of groundwater modeling are underscored by its key advantages and diverse applications across various domains [64], [66]–[68]:

- 1. Environmental Permitting: Groundwater modeling serves a pivotal role in ensuring compliance with stringent environmental permitting requirements. By providing early insights during the project planning phase, it facilitates proactive design modifications to align with regulatory standards, ensuring sustainable and environmentally responsible practices.
- 2. **Prediction and Testing:** The predictive capabilities of groundwater modeling extend to systematically assessing and comparing viable alternatives. This functionality proves invaluable in evaluating the potential impacts of proposed projects on critical parameters such as groundwater elevation, surface water elevation, or streamflow volume. The ability to simulate different scenarios aids in informed decision-making.
- 3. Understanding Hydrogeological Systems: At its core, groundwater modeling offers a conceptual understanding of complex hydrogeological systems. By translating the intricacies of natural groundwater flow into mathematical terms, the modeling process generates a simplified version of the system, facilitating easier comprehension and aiding in the interpretation of complex groundwater dynamics.
- 4. Assessment of Hydrological Changes: Groundwater models provide a powerful means of assessing the effects of hydrological changes. This includes predicting variations in water table levels, evaluating the impact of groundwater withdrawals on nearby streams, and forecasting potential saltwater intrusion scenarios. Such assessments contribute to effective water resource planning and management.
- 5. Water Management Planning and Supporting Informed Decision-Making: Urban water management plans benefit significantly from the integration of groundwater models. These models ensure coherence among critical factors such as aquifer properties, recharge and discharge rates, and groundwater levels. This holistic approach enhances the overall efficiency of water resource management strategies in urban areas.
- 6. **Identifying Sensitive Areas:** Groundwater models excel in pinpointing sensitive areas where additional hydrological information could greatly enhance system understanding.

Identifying these areas allows for targeted efforts in data collection and monitoring, further refining the accuracy of the model and its predictions.

- 7. Estimation of Aquifer Characteristics: Groundwater models play a pivotal role in estimating flows and aquifer characteristics, especially in situations where direct measurements are unavailable. This capability contributes to a more comprehensive understanding of groundwater dynamics, aiding in effective resource management and sustainable utilization.
- 8. **Quality Aspects:** Advanced groundwater models incorporate chemical quality aspects, enabling the prediction of chemical fate and movement. This functionality is particularly valuable in assessing potential environmental impacts in diverse scenarios, encompassing natural landscapes, urban environments, and hypothetical situations.
- 9. Avoidance of Unforeseen Challenges: Understanding hydrogeological systems through modeling allows project managers to anticipate and plan for unforeseen challenges. This foresight helps avoid unexpected setbacks and the associated costs that may arise due to issues like unexpected changes in groundwater levels or subsurface conditions.
- 10. Long-Term Cost Savings: While there may be an initial investment in groundwater modeling, the long-term cost savings it facilitates can outweigh these initial expenses. Accurate predictions and informed decision-making during the planning phase can prevent costly modifications and adjustments during and after project implementation.

In summary, groundwater modeling emerges as a cornerstone in the endeavor to address a wide spectrum of challenges, ranging from navigating complex environmental permitting processes to conducting nuanced assessments of hydrological changes. Its versatility and capacity to provide detailed insights position it as an invaluable asset in the broader context of understanding, managing, and preserving groundwater resources for sustainable and responsible utilization. Moreover, the economical aspects of groundwater modeling lie in its capacity to optimize project design, mitigate risks, ensure compliance, and enhance the efficient utilization of resources. Offering an in-depth insight into the dynamics of groundwater, modeling emerges as an indispensable instrument for projects aiming to attain both economic effectiveness and enduring sustainability.

Various software tools have been designed for MAR applications, alongside those utilized in broader hydrogeological studies. While some tools are purpose-built for MAR, the majority of models employed are not exclusively developed for such applications. Notably, MODFLOW stands out as the most widely utilized groundwater flow model in this context [69]. Visual MODFLOW serves as a Graphical User Interface for the USGS MODFLOW, functioning as a commercial software widely favored by hydrogeologists due to its user-friendly features. Primarily designed for creating Groundwater flow and contaminant transport models, this software is utilized to simulate various conditions and scenarios [70].

The Modular Finite-Difference Flow Model (MODFLOW) software was introduced by the U.S Geological Survey (USGS) and the 'Waterloo Hydrogeologic' company in August 1994. This software utilizes finite-difference methods for solving groundwater flow and contaminant transport models [71]. Notably, MODFLOW is categorized as "free public domain software" in terms of its source code. Visual MODFLOW, an application of MODFLOW, streamlines the modeling process by accepting input files in various formats such as Excel files, Surfer grids, GIS, and AutoCAD data. This characteristic enhances user-friendliness and reduces execution time.

A notable feature of Visual MODFLOW is its capability to interpret raw text and binary output files generated by MODFLOW. It transforms this data into color/contour maps and charts, providing a visual representation that facilitates easy analysis and interpretation of model results. Visual MODFLOW comes in two variants: Classic and Flex. While both types share similarities, the key distinction lies in their approach. Classic employs a numerical approach, whereas Flex utilizes a conceptual approach.

Leveraging well-established tools like MODFLOW in MAR modeling confers significant advantages. As outlined in the comprehensive review conducted by Ringleb et al. [33], MODFLOW emerges as a versatile and extensively utilized software tool across various modeling objectives and applications in managed aquifer recharge. This powerful software is employed in different stages of MAR, covering a spectrum of applications, including well, shaft, and borehole recharge. Its versatility extends to diverse aspects such as design, optimization, feasibility assessments, water quality analyses, exploration of geochemical processes, groundwater management strategies, evaluation of recovery efficiency, addressing saltwater intrusion concerns, and determining residence times within aquifers. Furthermore, MODFLOW proves to be highly adaptable, demonstrating its efficacy across different MAR methods. Its extensive history of diverse applications and comprehensive documentation enhances its reliability and usability in the realm of Managed Aquifer Recharge, making it a powerful and preferred choice in our research.

2 Methodology

2.1 Model Design in MODFLOW

As mentioned before, in the context of this study, the widely acclaimed MODFLOW, a threedimensional finite-difference model [69], has been used. Operating based on Darcy's law, MODFLOW governs the flow rate within saturated systems. Its capability to simulate both steady and transient flows makes it a versatile choice, accommodating various aquifer configurations, including confined, unconfined, or a combination of confined and unconfined layers. Three-dimensional groundwater flow is described by the following partial differential equation:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[K_x \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right] + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left[K_y \frac{\partial h}{\partial y} \right] + \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left[K_z \frac{\partial h}{\partial z} \right] \pm W = S_s \frac{\partial h}{\partial t} \qquad \text{Eq (2.1)}$$

where K_x , K_y and K_z are the hydraulic conductivity values along the x, y, and z coordinate axes parallel to the major axes of hydraulic conductivities; h is the potentiometric aquifer head; W is the volumetric flux per unit volume representing sources (W is negative for flow out) and/or sinks (W is positive for flow in) of water; S_s is the specific storage of the porous medium; and t is time. K_x , K_y and K_z , and S_s are functions of space (x, y, z) while W is a function of space and time (x, y, z, t) [72].

In this study, the Visual MODFLOW 2011.1 version was employed. For the flow model, five numeric engines were accessible, including USGS MODFLOW-96 from WHI, USGS MODFLOW-2000 from WHI, USGS MODFLOW-2005, USGS SEAWAT 2000, and MODFLOW-SURFACT from HGL. Among these options, USGS MODFLOW-2005 was selected for simulation, specifically defined for a saturated domain with constant density [71].

2.1.1 Properties and Initial Data

The fundamental requirement for groundwater modeling entails the creation of mathematical frameworks and the inclusion of varied hydrogeological properties. This encompasses the spatial distribution of hydraulic conductivities, static groundwater head, and the coefficients of individual aquifers.

We established a hypothetical groundwater model domain within the Visual MODFLOW framework, defining an area measuring 3 km by 1 km with a thickness of 50 m. Within the scope of this investigation, the process of model discretization was carried out utilizing a grid with dimensions of 10×10 meters, resulting in 300 columns (number of grids along the x direction)

and 100 rows (grids along the y direction). The model consisted of two stratigraphic layers, spanning a combined area of 3 square kilometers and featuring an impressive 30,000 cells organized across two layers. Figure 2-1 illustrates the planar view of the model within the MODFLOW software workspace.



Figure 2-1 Planar view of the model in MODFLOW workspace.

The first layer represents an unconfined aquifer, while the second layer serves as an aquitard. The underlying layer comprises relatively impermeable bedrock, functioning as the model's bottom.

Layer 1, representing the unconfined aquifer, is consistently 40 m thick, while Layer 2, acting as the aquitard, has a uniform thickness of 10 m. Table 2-1 provides details on the spatially uniform hydraulic properties of the aquifer. The figure below displays the cross-sectional view of the model, including both the aquifer and the aquitard sections. The dark blue portion represents the aquitard, which is characterized as a scarcely conductive layer.



Figure 2-2 Cross-sectional view of the model in MODFLOW workspace.

2.1.2 Boundary conditions

The groundwater flow pattern is considered to move from the west of the model towards the well, located in the eastern part of the model where the agricultural field is situated. Consequently, the model area is delimited by no-flow boundaries assigned to the north and south. As a fundamental boundary condition, the static groundwater level is specified at both the western and eastern boundaries of the model. Constant hydraulic head as the first type boundary condition was adopted.

In particular, the hydraulic head at the western boundary is established at a value of 40 m, indicating the static groundwater level in that specific region. In contrast, a constant value of 31 m for hydraulic head is assigned to the eastern boundary. This boundary condition configuration is designed to simulate the expected groundwater dynamics within the model area, taking into account the directional flow toward the agricultural field in the east and establishing a foundational framework for the analysis of groundwater behavior. The values for the mentioned boundary conditions are also summarized in Table 2-1.

Model Input Variable	Value					
Aquifer zone model parameters						
Horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K_x, K_y)	$10^{-3}ms^{-1}$					
Ratio of vertical to horizontal $(K_z/K_{x,y})$	1.0					
hydraulic conductivity						
Specific yield (S_y)	0.2					
Specific storage value (S_s)	$10^{-4} m^{-1}$					
Effective porosity (φ_e)	0.15					
Aquitard zone mo	del parameters					
Horizontal hydraulic conductivity (K_x, K_y)	$10^{-10} m s^{-1}$					
Ratio of vertical to horizontal $(K_z/K_{x,y})$	10 ⁻¹					
hydraulic conductivity						
Boundary co	Boundary conditions					
Western boundary: Constant Hydraulic Head	40 m					
Eastern boundary: Constant Hydraulic Head	31 m					
Northen and Southern boundary: No Flow	q = 0					

Table 2-1- Model Parameters Used in Visual MODFLOW Framework

In this study, we incorporated a pumping (irrigation) well near the hypothetical agricultural field downstream of the model, operating at a consistent pumping rate. Additionally, an infiltration basin upstream has been established, designed to convey water through the underlying aquifer to reach the pumping well. The cultivation period was defined from May to September, spanning 155 days, while the infiltration basin operated for seven months, from October to April, totaling 210 days.

To improve the clarity of alterations around the pumping well and conduct a more detailed analysis of drawdown data, we implemented a refined spatial resolution. More specifically, we reduced the size of the cell containing the well and its neighboring cells by a factor of 2, encompassing also three cells on each side (north, south, east, and west). This adjustment resulted in a total of seven cells being included in both rows and columns within this downscaled area. Consequently, our focused analysis was performed on a grided model featuring 307 columns and 107 rows, enabling a more intricate examination of groundwater drawdown patterns in the immediate vicinity of the pumping well. The before and final griddings are illustrated in the figures below.



Figure 2-3 Model gridding before downscaling the area around the well.



Figure 2-4 Model gridding after downscaling the area around the well.

To conduct a thorough sensitivity analysis, we explored various factors, encompassing hydraulic properties, the positioning, shape, and dimensions of the recharge basin, along with the rates of infiltration. The simulation was carried out over a substantial duration of 20 years, allowing for a comprehensive exploration of the system dynamics and the impact of different recharge scenarios and groundwater flow on the pumping and agricultural conditions. This extended simulation period enhances our understanding of the long-term effects and sustainability of the proposed groundwater management approach.

2.2 Model (Sensitivity Analysis) Scenarios

Sensitivity analysis is a valuable tool in the application of a new model, especially when there is limited information and literature about it. It helps in determining how different values of an independent variable affect a particular dependent variable under a given set of assumptions. Here are some key points about the application of sensitivity analysis [73]–[75]:

Model Simplification: Sensitivity analysis can aid in simplifying the model. By identifying factors that don't significantly impact the output, the model can be streamlined, making it easier to analyze the inputs.

Identifying Key Elements: It helps in determining which elements have the greatest impact on the model's output, thus providing insights into the most critical components of the model. By systematically varying input parameters over a reasonable range and observing the model's response, researchers can discern which parameters have a substantial impact on the model outcomes. This aids in prioritizing and focusing attention on the most influential aspects of the model.

Robustness Testing: Sensitivity analysis can be used to determine whether the results are robust. This is particularly important when dealing with a new model where uncertainties exist.

Communication of Results: It assists in communicating the results to stakeholders, including upper management, by providing a clear understanding of how changes in input variables affect the model's output.

Decision-Making Support: Sensitivity analysis provides valuable information for decisionmaking, especially in scenarios where there is limited information about the model. It helps in understanding the potential impact of different variables on the model's output.

Optimizing Model Performance: Sensitivity analysis aids in optimizing the performance of the new model. Understanding which parameters drive the model's behavior allows researchers to fine-tune and optimize those aspects. This iterative process enhances the model's predictive capabilities, especially when dealing with limited prior knowledge.

Guiding Future Research: In the context of a new model, sensitivity analysis serves as a guide for future research directions. It not only informs researchers about the crucial parameters requiring further investigation but also helps set priorities for additional data collection and experimental studies. This ensures that subsequent research efforts are targeted and aligned with the model's sensitivities.

In summary, sensitivity analysis is a powerful tool that can be particularly useful when dealing with a new model where there is limited information and literature. It can aid in simplifying the model, identifying key elements, testing robustness, and supporting decision-making and communication of results.

In the subject of groundwater modeling, model sensitivity is a function of groundwater response to changes in model inputs, such as groundwater recharge and aquifer hydraulic properties [60]. The purpose of the sensitivity analysis is to demonstrate the sensitivity of the model simulations to uncertainty in values of model input data. The sensitivity of one model parameter relative to other parameters is also demonstrated. Sensitivity analyses are also beneficial in determining the direction of future data collection activities. Data for which the model is relatively sensitive would require future characterization, as opposed to data for which the model is relatively insensitive. This strategic approach not only ensures the accuracy of the model in handling sensitive data but also translates to significant benefits in terms of both time and cost savings, particularly for insensitive data. This streamlined process contributes to efficient resource utilization, enhancing overall project efficiency and resource management [76], [77].

In the forthcoming sections, we will provide detailed explanations of the scenarios outlined in this study. Additionally, we will elaborate on the variables selected for conducting sensitivity analyses to assess their impact on the response of the production well to various changes.

2.2.1 The Base Model

The initial simulation model, executed with properties outlined in Table 2-1, featured a strategically placed well at coordinates 2012.5 m and 512.5 m in the x and y directions, respectively. The meticulous selection of well coordinates ensured its central positioning within a corresponding cell when the model was gridded. This well was specifically designed for water extraction during agricultural activities, spanning approximately 155 days annually from May to September.

The first simulation focused solely on water production, deliberately omitting the inclusion of the water infiltration and the recharge basin. This intentional exclusion aimed to evaluate alterations in the hydraulic head within the well and the corresponding water levels in the underlying aquifer. The simulation spanned an extensive period of 7300 days, equivalent to 20 years, providing a comprehensive perspective on the long-term effects and dynamics associated with the operation of the production well.

In this study, the simulation year has been divided into two periods, which are defined as follows:

- Starting from October 1st until the end of April: Spanning a duration of 7 months or 210 days, this period corresponds to the operation of the recharge basin. During this timeframe, no pumping activities occur at the well.
- 2. Second period, commencing in May and concluding at the end of September: Spanning approximately 155 days, this timeframe coincides with the agricultural season. Consequently, it aligns with the operation of the well, and during this period, there is no infiltration occurring at the basin.

Each model was simulated starting in October, with no irrigation and no well production for the initial 7 months, and the pumping rate was considered equal to zero during this period. Subsequently, for the remainder of the simulation year, starting in May, the well started pumping for 5 months until the end of September. For the sake of conducting a thorough sensitivity analysis and facilitating a more comprehensive comparison, a pumping rate of 100 liters per second (approximately 8640 m³/d) has been taken into account to observe a noticeable drawdown.

The screen level of the well was established with a length of 10 meters, ranging from 11 to 22 meters with respect to the bottom of the model. This configuration was chosen to align with the expansion of the aquitard, which extends from 0 to 10 m from the bottom of the model. The figure below provides a schematic illustration of the well and the relative position of the screen alongside the visual representation of the pumping rate schedule, showcasing the periodical production from the well.

D 😫 🗙 🗠	8	1 🛍 ¥ 🛨 📥	l	Currer	nt well: PUMPI	NG WELL		n/a		
 Display well as: Elevation 	Co-ordinate Model	Find Well by name:		eened Interva	Bo	₩ ttom [m]	Ţ	50		3
O Depth to	⊖World		▶ 22 11 *							
	II name NG WELL 201	×[m] ×[m] ^ 12.5 512.5		ply screen(s) f mping Schedu	orall selected Ile 🕨 🕨					
				Start (day)	End (day)	Rate (m^3/d)	~			
			Þ	0	210	0				
				210	365	-8640				
				365	575	0				
				575	730	-8640				
				730	940	0				
				940	1095	-8640				
				1095	1305	0				
				1305	1460	-8640				
				1460	1670	0				
				1670	1825	-8640				
				1825	2035	0				
				2035	2190	-8640		40		
				2190	2400	0		10		
				2400	2555	-8640				
				2555	2765	0				
		\sim		2765	2920	-8640				
<		>		2920	3130	0	×			
Done			Ap	ply schedule(s	;) for all selecte	ed wells Appl	ly	0		

Figure 2-5 Well schematic and the adopted pumping rate schedule over 20 years (7300 days).

2.2.2 The Definition of The Recharge Basin

In this part, the modification implemented in relation to the base model involved the introduction of a recharge basin. Taking into account the established boundary conditions and the natural flow

direction within the model, a recharge basin was strategically placed in the proximity of the western boundary. This adjustment was made with the understanding that the infiltrated water from the basin (on the western side) would follow a course toward the pumping well (on the eastern side) and subsequently contribute to the water source for the farmland.

An attempt was made to symmetrically define the basin in relation to the placement of the well. To this matter, the basin was expanded from 450 to 550 meters along the x-direction (groundwater direction) and from 400 to 600 meters along the y-direction (transversal to the flow direction). Therefore, a rectangular area has been created, measuring 100 meters by 200 meters, equivalent to a total of 20,000 square meters. Figure 2-6 illustrates the schematic representation of the basin and its relative position with respect to the well within the MODFLOW working space.

This figure also highlights two monitoring wells that have been purposefully introduced in the system, with one strategically placed precisely at the location of the pumping well to monitor the water level within the well. The second monitoring well is positioned at the center of the recharge basin, serving to assess the level of rise in the water level and the groundwater mounding right under the infiltration basin during and at the end of each infiltration period.



Figure 2-6 Positioning of the production and monitoring wells and the recharge basin.

The basin recharging rate is derived from the well's pumping rate, focusing on the volume of extracted water from the pumping well over 155 days. More specifically, the same amount of extracted volume from the well is considered to be recharged underground during the off-agricultural season, for 210 days and covering an area of 20,000 square meters of the recharge basin. Table 2-2 illustrates the procedure for determining the infiltration rate.

Parameters	Units	Value
Pumping rate	m3/s	0.1
Irrigation season length	d	155
Overall volume abstracted	m3	1339200
Ratio of volume infiltrated to volume abstracted	-	1
Infiltration season length	d	210
Infiltration volume rate	m3/s	0.07381
Infiltration basin width	m	100
Infiltration basin length	m	200
Infiltration rate	m/s	7.38E-06
	mm/y	116383
Ratio of volume infiltrated to volume abstracted	-	2
Infiltration rate	m/s	3.69E-06
	mm/y	232766

Table 2-2- Calculation of the basin's infiltration rate

In the initial attempt to define the basin, the infiltration rate was established at 116383 mm/year, initiating the trial to observe and analyze the impact of this adjustment on the model's behavior and dynamics. However, in order to enhance the visibility of changes on the final hydraulic head at the well and for a more thorough investigation into the effects of various parameters on drawdown, the recharge volume was set to be twice the extraction volume, as also calculated in the table above. Henceforth, the basin infiltration rate of 232766 mm/year has been employed for the remainder of the study. The simulation time commenced on October 1st, with a defined recharge schedule for the basin, set in opposition to the operation time of the pumping well. During the period when the recharge basin is actively infiltrating water, the pumping well remains inactive. In a synchronized manner, as the infiltration basin completes its recharge process at the end of April, a strategic alignment is observed where the pumping well starts its pumping activities concurrently with the initiation of agricultural activities in May. This orchestrated synchronization ensures a coordinated approach, allowing the pumping well to play an integral role in supporting agricultural needs as the planting season begins. Figure 2-7 provides a visual representation of the recharge schedule for the basin. By comparing this schedule to Figure 2-5, the counter-sequential operation of the well and basin becomes apparent.

Zone #:		Zone Name:	Layer	#:
2	\sim	Recharge zone (2)	~ 1	\sim

🛍 🖬 🛍

	Edit se	elected row(s) or column:	\$RECHARGE		
	Start Time [day]	Stop Time [day]	Recharge [mm/yr]	Active	~
Þ	0	210	232766	✓	
	210	365	0		
	365	575	232766		
	575	730	0	✓	
	730	940	232766	✓	
	940	1095	0	✓	
	1095	1305	232766	✓	
	1305	1460	0	✓	
	1460	1670	232766	✓	
	1670	1825	0	✓	
	1825	2035	232766	V	
	2035	2190	0	✓	¥

6050	6205	0	V	
6205	6415	232766	✓	
6415	6570	0	✓	
6570	6780	232766	✓	
6780	6935	0	✓	
6935	7145	232766	✓	
7145	7300	0	✓	~

Figure 2-7- Basin recharge schedule over 20 years (7300 days).

2.2.3 Change in The Shape of The Recharge Basin

As a preliminary try, we aimed to examine the influence of the basin's shape, while maintaining a constant area, on the ultimate hydraulic head observed in the well. This exploration serves as a foundational step in understanding how variations in the geometric configuration of the basin may impact the groundwater level.

Two distinct alternative shapes were examined in this investigation. The first involved elongating the basin along the transversal direction of groundwater flow, while the second sought to mimic a shape resembling an arc. The deliberate choice to maintain a consistent area while altering the shape allows for a focused assessment of the influence of shape alone on the observed hydraulic head. The figures below offer a visual representation of the simulated basin shapes, providing a clear depiction of the spatial modifications under consideration.



Figure 2-8 MODFLOW model schematic with the first proposed shape of the altered recharge basin.



Figure 2-9 MODFLOW model schematic with the second proposed shape of the altered recharge basin.

2.2.4 Change in The Dimensions of The Recharge Basin

This section delves into the contribution of recharge from upland catchment areas to the pumping well domain, considering two pivotal components: the volumetric amount of recharge and the timing of its delivery. The primary objective here is to investigate the effects of adjusting the size of the recharge basin, while ensuring a constant recharge rate—essentially maintaining the same volumetric amount of recharge over the designated basin area. A deliberate emphasis was placed on achieving symmetry in the configuration of the basin relative to the placement of the well.

To examine how altering the size of the basin influences groundwater response and the hydraulic head in the well, the basin's dimensions have been deliberately adjusted. This systematic modification includes both increases and decreases in size. The analysis encompasses four proposed changes in the basin area, and the corresponding parameters are presented in the table below.

N. of realization	Basin area (m^2)	Infiltration recharge rate (<i>mm/year</i>)
Base model	100×200	232,766
1	200×300	77,588
2	50×100	931,064
3	40×60	1,930,716
4	20×30	7,758,870

Table 2-3- Variations in basin area and corresponding recharge values

The dimension of the recharge basin was transformed considering the fact every new defined basin area is capable of infiltrating the same volume rate of water over its own area. Notably, as the area decreases, to accommodate the same volume of water, the infiltration rate proportionally increases. To assess whether the increased infiltration rate remains within the permissible limits of the aquifer thickness, a monitoring well has been strategically established at the center of the infiltration basin. Furthermore, it is noteworthy to mention that, in order to maintain consistency and prevent alterations in the relative distance between the well and the basin area, the position of the front of the basin has been kept uniform across all models.

The applied changes encompassed variations in both the expansion and reduction of the basin's dimensions. Despite the dual approach, a keen awareness of the influential role of land use prompted a more pronounced inclination towards decreasing the overall basin area. This preference is evident in Table 2-3, where three simulations were conducted involving a decrease in the model's area. This directional shift in focus not only can prioritize the imperative of maintaining consistency in water infiltration but also will underscore the balance between the ecological sustainability of the solution and the practical implications of land utilization. However, it is important to note that the reduction in the area can only be carried out up to a certain point. As mentioned before, this limitation arises due to the escalating volumetric rate of water over the specified area, reaching a threshold where surpassing the thickness of the aquifer becomes a constraint.

The purpose of this investigation is to assess how changes in the spatial extent of the recharge basin can influence the overall dynamics of the groundwater system, with particular attention to its interaction with the pumping well and the subsequent impact on aquifer behavior.

2.2.5 Change in The Relative Distance of The Recharge Basin and The Well

In MAR methods like Aquifer Storage, Transfer, and Recovery (ASTR), the usual practice involves maintaining a relatively short distance, typically around 90 meters or less, between the injection well and the extraction well. This ensures that the extraction well remains within the storage "bubble" radius created by the recharge well, as both wells operate simultaneously [78].

In the context of the current study, wherein the schedules for infiltration and pumping are counter-sequential, therefore, there is a deliberate temporal gap designed to allow the infiltrated water sufficient time to traverse its path toward the pumping well. In this distinctive scenario, the conventional significance of the bubble radius concept comes under scrutiny. The customary practice of maintaining a short distance between the injection and extraction points, as encapsulated by the "bubble" radius, may not directly apply due to the intentional temporal offset between the two processes.

Given the counter-sequential nature of the infiltration and pumping processes, we have conducted an investigation into the impact of altering the relative distance between the infiltration basin and the well. The aim was to assess how and to which extent, the variations in this distance could influence the performance of the pumping well and, consequently, the observed hydraulic head in the well. This departure from the conventional approach allows for a more nuanced understanding of the dynamics in scenarios where the injection and production phases are not concurrent, providing valuable insights into the system's behavior under different operational conditions.

2.2.6 Change in The Hydraulic Conductivity

During this phase, numerical models were developed to delve into the intricate dynamics of groundwater flow, considering the intertwined influences of artificial recharge resulting from human activities and alterations in hydraulic conductivity reflecting changes in the medium's characteristics. The primary focus is on comprehensively understanding how these dual factors shape the behavior of groundwater over time and space.

The investigation is particularly geared towards examining the changes in the hydraulic head map and the drawdown experienced in the irrigation well throughout an extensive 20-year simulation. By analyzing these key parameters, the aim is to gain a deeper insight into the interplay between artificial recharge and variations in hydraulic conductivity, shedding light on the intricate patterns and potential consequences for groundwater resources.

To ensure meaningful comparisons with previous simulations, the temporal aspects of the well's production schedule and the recharge activities in the infiltration basin are synchronized. This synchronization serves to create a consistent framework, allowing for a thorough assessment of how the current combined influences compare with the outcomes of earlier simulations. By maintaining temporal alignment, one can identify any deviations, improvements, or patterns that emerge in the simulated groundwater behavior over the two-decade period. In this context, after

doubling the hydraulic conductivity in one attempt to $2 \times 10^{-3} m s^{-1}$ (see Table 2-1.), the subsequent trial involved halving the hydraulic conductivity (to $5 \times 10^{-4} m s^{-1}$).

The scenarios mentioned in the previous sections, involving alterations in the shape, size, and relative distance of the basin from the well, will be simulated using the three specified values of hydraulic conductivity.
3 Discussion and Results

In this chapter, the simulation results are presented employing a qualitative approach, utilizing figures, for example, to illustrate the hydraulic head of the production well over a simulated period of 20 years. Additionally, we adopt a quantitative approach by presenting the results in tables for a more detailed examination. The primary aim of this study is to discern the influence of various model parameters and other pertinent factors on the aquifer system, with a particular focus on the response of the hydraulic head at the production well.

Our overarching objective is to pinpoint the variable(s) that most significantly influence the hydraulic head gain in the production well. This identification is crucial as it enables an increase in the production rate to a level where we attain the same final hydraulic head at the well as in the model without a basin. This objective will serve as a central focus in subsequent analyses.

Moreover, we endeavor to showcase the effectiveness of this Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) method in capturing surplus water during periods of abundance. This involves the infiltration of excess water through a basin, strategically located away from the production well. The basin allows for the storage and downstream flow of water in the underlying aquifer. At a designated distance, the stored water can be extracted and utilized during periods of necessity. The focus of this study is particularly on the agricultural season, highlighting the practical utility of MAR in aligning water availability with the demands of agricultural activities.

In the upcoming sections, we will delve into the impact of various variables on homogeneous realizations, with a focus on the final hydraulic head value at the production well after 20 years of simulation. To assess the sensitivity of this value, we have selected three different values for hydraulic conductivity. Our approach involves examining the effects of key factors discussed in the previous chapter. These factors encompass the introduction of the basin, alterations in its recharge rate, and modifications to the shape, area, and distance of the well-basin configuration. Initially, our analysis will concentrate on a model with a homogeneous hydraulic conductivity set at 0.001 m/s. We will systematically explore how each factor influences the final hydraulic head under this hydraulic conductivity value. Subsequently, we will repeat the investigation with the hydraulic conductivity doubled in one iteration and halved in another. This dual approach allows us to comprehensively evaluate the sensitivity of the model to changes in hydraulic conductivity, providing insights into how variations in this parameter may interact with other influential factors.

3.1 Model Outcomes With Base Model's (Moderate) Hydraulic Conductivity

This section provides a comprehensive discussion of the simulation outcomes for predefined scenarios in the previous chapter, focusing on the models characterized by a hydraulic conductivity of 0.001 m/s as specified in Table 2-1. The sensitivity analysis in the model encompasses crucial variables including the area, shape, rate, and distance of the basin from the well, each detailed in Table 3-1. This comprehensive set of parameters is essential for evaluating how variations in these factors influence the dynamics of the simulation. The table not only provides a thorough breakdown of the defined input variables but also presents insightful simulation results. Within this context, the simulation outcomes are reported in terms of the initial head, final head, and drawdown in the abstraction well.

These parameters serve as pivotal indicators, providing a holistic insight into the evolution of the groundwater system throughout the 20-year simulation period. Additionally, they offer valuable information on the anticipated gain or increase in the final hydraulic head at the well. This dual perspective not only captures the overall system dynamics but also quantifies the specific improvements or changes in the hydraulic head resulting from the introduction of the basin into the system under various scenarios, contributing to a more nuanced understanding of the model's behavior over the extended simulation timeframe.

	Base model	Introducing the basin		Change in the shape of the basin		Char	nge in the a	area of the	basin	Change in the relative distance of the basin and the well										
N. of model	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18		
Description	(No basin)	1:1 infiltration rate	2:1 infiltration rate	Alongated transversal to flow	With shape of an arc	Increase in area	Decrease in area	Decrease in area	Decrease in area	Basin farther from well by 400 m	Basin farther from well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 400 m	Basin closer to well by 600 m	Basin closer to well by 800 m	Basin closer to well by 1000 m	Basin closer to well by 1200 m	Basin closer to well by 1400 m		
Distance of basin and well (m)	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1862.5	1662.5	1262.5	1062.5	862.5	662.5	462.5	262.5	62.5		
Basin rate (mm/y)	-	116383	232766	232766	232766	77588	931064	1939716	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870		
Basin area (m ²)	-	100x200 =20000	100x200 =20000	50x400 =20000	50x400 =20000	200x300 =60000	50x100 =5000	40x60 =2400	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600		
Initial head (m)	34.150	34.580	35.007	35.051	35.098	35.006	35.050	35.059	35.076	34.384	34.730	35.424	35.777	36.135	36.502	36.898	37.388	38.422		
Final head (m)	27.742	27.916	28.080	28.096	28.111	28.079	28.096	28.099	28.105	27.841	27.980	28.212	28.302	28.368	28.409	28.425	28.411	28.370		
Draw down (m)	6.408	6.664	6.927	6.955	6.987	6.928	6.954	6.960	6.971	6.543	6.750	7.212	7.475	7.767	8.093	8.473	8.977	10.052		
Final head difference from base model (m)	-	0.17371	0.33866	0.35387	0.36930	0.33759	0.35374	0.35691	0.362726	0.099386	0.237787	0.470566	0.560102	0.625927	0.667673	0.683275	0.668941	0.628445		

3.1.1 Effect of Introducing The Basin

Two scenarios were established for this examination. The first scenario featured an infiltration rate where the ratio of volume infiltrated to volume abstracted was set at 1 (1:1 infiltration ratio). In the second simulation, the same basin was employed, but the infiltration volume was doubled in comparison to the volume abstracted (2:1 infiltration ratio). The figures presented below illustrate the plot of the hydraulic heads versus time recorded during 20 years of simulation of the base model with no infiltration and the two mentioned realizations with different infiltration rates. These data are recorded in the monitoring well, which is positioned at the same location as the production well.



Figure 3-1 Hydraulic head vs time for the base model (no basin).



Figure 3-2 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with 1:1 infiltration ratio.



Figure 3-3 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with 2:1 infiltration ratio.

The figure below displays the recorded head at both the basin and the production well in the model with 2:1 infiltration ratio, during the 7300 days of simulations, highlighting a crucial observation. At the initiation of the simulation, the head at both the basin and the well increases, synchronizing with the onset of infiltrating water. However, after a cycle of infiltration, the head at both locations decreases. This decline corresponds to the production phase when water is

extracted from the well. Additionally, during this period, the infiltration basin becomes inactive, causing water under the basin area to flow towards the well due to the disparity in pore pressure induced by the well's abstraction.



Figure 3-4 Hydraulic head data recorded at the monitoring wells placed at the basin (in red) and the production well (in blue).

Figure 3-5 Figure 3-6 display the simulation outcomes in terms of equipotential lines of the hydraulic head and the direction of groundwater flow through velocity arrows for both the base model and the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio of the basin. These results are presented after 210 days, aligning with the conclusion of the first period of the basin's infiltration, during which the pumping well remains inactive.

gT	_	_	_	\downarrow	_	_	_		_	_	_		_	_	L	_		+			_	_	_	_	_	_			
Ħ																													
8-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	
۳	-	-+	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-		-	-	-+	-	-	-•	-	
	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-+	 -
Š.	_	_	_	4	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	+	HOPU	D WERLIG		╨╘╌╸	_	_	_	_	_	_	
	_					_	_		_	_			_	_		_			_	+	·]	_			_	_			_
₽-	_	_	_	Τ	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	T	-	-		-	-	-	-	-	_	-	
	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-+	-	-	-•		
	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-+	-	-	-•	-	
8	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	_	-	
	_	_	_	-	_	_	_		_	_		_	_	_	ġ	_	_	-0-20	_	_	_		_		_	_		-	
				ې 400	1			800	1		۳ ۱) 120	0		i T	160	0	ĕ		2000	ð			240	0		8	2800	3000

Figure 3-5 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the base model after 210 days.

8			4	-	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_
	-		4		-	-	-				-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	4	-	_	-	-	_
8	-			1	1	1	-1	-		-	-	-	-	_	_	_	-	_	_	-	-+	-	-+	-+	+	-+	-+	-	-	-+
	-		4	$^{\prime}$	1	1			-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	
8	-				\bigwedge	1-		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	HORU	TROPAN -	NGHELE	Lt-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	
	-				L	3-		+	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-"	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	_
\$-	-			x	X	\sim	-		-	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	_
	-	•		\$	~	~	-1			-	-	-	-	_	_	_	-	_	_	-	-+	-	-+	-+	+	-+	-	-	-+	-+
8	-	•	~	~	~	~	-				-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	. –	-	+	-	-	0 0 	-	
	·	-	•	~	~	-	39.0	-		~	 8	-	-	-20	-	-	3¢ 0	-	-	8 - -	-	-8	-	-	-33.0	-	-	-	-	
4)			4	bo			80)			120	0			160	0			200	0			240	0			2800	o a	000

Figure 3-6 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio after 210 days.

Comparing the two figures above reveals notable differences, in the simulated model with a basin, after the initial 210-day infiltration period, there is a discernible alteration in the equipotential lines compared to the model without a basin. Specifically, the equipotential line at 40 meters has shaped around the basin area, indicating an elevation in the water table within the aquifer. This suggests that the presence of the basin has contributed to raising the water table, which potentially it is expected to compensate for some of the volume of water abstracted from the well.

Additionally, results after 7300 days are depicted in Figure 3-7Figure 3-8, representing the completion of the production well's last cycle of abstraction when the infiltration basin is inactive. The figures depict the equipotential lines of the hydraulic head, along with the direction and magnitude of groundwater flow represented by velocity arrows.



Figure 3-7 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the base model after 7300 days.



Figure 3-8 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio after 7300 days.

Upon reviewing Figure 3-7Figure 3-8, the discernible impact of infiltration on the equipotential lines around the well may not be pronounced, yet it is observable that the head equipotential line of 30 meters around the production well in the model with the basin is wider. Examining the final hydraulic head values reported in Table 3-1, the increase in the hydraulic head for the models with infiltration rates of 1:1 (model number 2) and 2:1 (model number 3) with respect to the base

model is 0.17 m and 0.34 m, respectively. As previously noted, for evaluating the influence of different variables on production operations and the final recorded hydraulic head in the well, maintaining the 2:1 infiltration rate was chosen for its higher gain, ensuring more evident changes.

3.1.2 Effect of Change in The Shape of The Basin

As previously mentioned, the shape of the infiltration basin, while maintaining the same basin area, has been altered in two ways: one with increased elongation in the transversal direction to the flow, and the second adopting the shape of an arc. The figures below depict plots of hydraulic heads versus time over a 20-year simulation period for the two models with the modified shapes of the infiltration basins.



Figure 3-9 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with altered basin shape—increased length in the transversal direction to the flow.



Figure 3-10 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with altered basin shape—like an arc.

Models number 4 and 5 share the same area in terms of square meters as model number 3, with the only difference being in their shape. The investigation aims to determine if the change in shape has noticeably change and more importantly has improved the hydraulic head, in order to assess whether shape is a significant variable in this context. As indicated in Table 3-1, the final hydraulic head for models number 4 and 5 is 28.096 and 28.111 meters, respectively, showing a minimal increase of approximately 0.015 meters compared to the final head of model 3.

Based on these reported results, it can be inferred that, given the constant area, the change in shape does not significantly improve or strongly influence the final hydraulic head. Consequently, shaping the basin differently may not be a worthwhile practice for enhancing the system's performance. However, the positive aspect is that, since shape is not a decisive factor, one can configure the basin based on land availability while maintaining a specified area for the system.

3.1.3 Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin

In the context of varying the size of the basin, four different dimensions were considered, including: 300x200 m², 50x100 m², 40x60 m², and lastly, 20x30 m². The graphs below illustrate the hydraulic head versus time for each of these configurations, highlighting how changes in size impact the production well's head over a 20-year period of seasonal abstraction.



Figure 3-11 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with basin dimension of 300x200 m².



Figure 3-12 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with basin dimension of 50x100 m².



Figure 3-13 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with basin dimension of 40x60 m².



Figure 3-14 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with basin dimension of 20x30 m².

Based on the findings presented in Table 3-1, altering the area of the basin while maintaining the front of the basin in the same location does not yield a significant change in the final hydraulic head at the well. However, it's noteworthy that with an increase in area, there is a marginal negative impact on the gain in hydraulic head. Conversely, reducing the area, as observed in model 9 with dimensions of 20x30m, results in an improvement of almost 0.03m in hydraulic

head gain compared to model 3. While this improvement may not be substantial, it holds significance. This outcome is crucial, because by decreasing the basin area, not only we are considering important aspects such as land use in the design of an infiltration basin, but we are also enhancing the final hydraulic head rather than diminishing it.

An additional consideration arises when decreasing the basin area while maintaining the same volume of infiltrated water for all models. This leads to an increase in the infiltration rate over the reduced basin area. In this context, the potential for groundwater mounding becomes pivotal, as excessively high mounding could impede further water infiltration, causing water to flow on the surface once it surpasses the aquifer thickness.

To assess the adequacy of the optimum model (model number 9), a monitoring well was introduced at the basin to record the water level and the hydraulic heads. The figure below depicts the equipotential lines of the hydraulic heads after the initial 210-day infiltration period, where the most significant water level increase happens before initiation of the well production. According to the data obtained from the monitoring well, the maximum water level reaches a height of 42.8 meters, which is below the thickness of the model (50 meters). This indicates that the area of 20x30m, as applied in model number 9, can be safely considered for the defined configuration without exceeding the aquifer thickness limitation.



Figure 3-15 Hydraulic head equipotential lines map for model number 9 after first infiltration period (at 210 days). Given that the model number 9 has produced the most satisfactory results in terms of the final hydraulic head at the well while maintaining the minimum occupied area, the upcoming section

which delves into examining the influence of the relative distance between the basin and the well, employs the basin with dimensions of 20x30 meter square for simulation.

3.1.4 Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well

In this section, we delve into the examination of the relative distance between the well and the infiltration basin, aiming to discern the correlation between this distance and the ultimate drawdown in the well. The reference basin was initially positioned at 550 meters from upstream of the model along the x direction, while the well was situated at 2012.5 meters, resulting in a 1462.5-meter distance between the basin and the well.

To explore the impact of distance, various configurations were simulated and the basin was systematically relocated, first by increasing the distance by 200 (model n.11) and 400 (model n.10) meters beyond the reference distance (with the relative distance of 1662.5 and 1862.5 meters, respectively). Subsequently, the basin was progressively brought closer to the abstraction well in increments of 200 (model n.12), 400 (model n.13), 600 (model n.14), 800 (model n.15), 1000 (model n.16), 1200 (model n.17), and 1400 (model n.18) meters with the relative distance of 1262.5, 1062.5, 862.5, 662.5, 462.5, 262.5 and 62.5, respectively for each mentioned simulated realization. This analysis enables us to gain insights into how variations in the relative distance between the basin and the well influence the final hydraulic head in the well over the course of the simulation.

To minimize the number of figures and keep it concise, a selection of hydraulic head vs. time plots for specific realizations has been provided here.



Figure 3-16 Hydraulic head vs time for the model n.10, positioned 400 meters farther from the well than the reference distance.



Figure 3-17 Hydraulic head vs time for the model n.16, positioned 1000 meters closer to the well than the reference distance.



Figure 3-18 Hydraulic head vs time for the model n.18, positioned 1400 meters closer to the well than the reference distance.

The examination of altering the distance between the basin and the well aimed to assess the extent and magnitude of the impact on the hydraulic head gain at the production well. The results indicate that as the basin relocates farther away, the increase in hydraulic head becomes less pronounced, whereas moving the basin closer to the well results in a more significant gain. Figure 3-19Figure 3-20 depict the final hydraulic head at the abstraction well and the hydraulic head gain compared to the base model over time, respectively.



Figure 3-19 Effect of change in relative distance of basin-well on final hydraulic head.



Figure 3-20 Effect of change in relative distance of basin-well on hydraulic head gain.

The presented figures offer valuable insights, highlighting two notable observations. Firstly, it is evident that there exists a critical threshold regarding the proximity of the basin to the well. Beyond a specific distance, the gain in hydraulic head not only diminishes but takes on a negative trend. This implies the existence of an optimal distance for the well-defined system configuration, beyond which the hydraulic head gain is counterproductive. Secondly, the figures underscore the asymmetric impact of adjusting the distance from the well. The influence of increasing the distance is more substantial compared to decreasing it. This disparity is discernible in the plot's slope, which initiates with a steep incline when the basin is distanced from the well. However, as the basin is brought closer, this increase in hydraulic head becomes progressively less significant. This nuanced understanding of the distance's impact on hydraulic head dynamics is pivotal for optimizing the system's performance.

3.2 Model Outcomes with Low Hydraulic Conductivity

In this section, the predefined scenarios are replicated, this time with a reduced hydraulic conductivity of 0.0005 m/s, which is half of the reference hydraulic conductivity value (refer to Table 2-1). Similar to the previous analysis, the sensitivity analysis in the model encompasses variables such as area, shape, rate, and the distance of the basin from the well, each meticulously detailed in Table 3-2. This comprehensive set of parameters is crucial for evaluating how variations in these factors influence the dynamics of the simulation. The table not only includes the inputs data to the MODFLOW but also presents the simulation results, including the initial head, final head, and drawdown in the abstraction well. These simulation outcomes provide valuable information regarding the expected gain or increase in the final hydraulic head at the well over the 20-year simulation period.

In this section, the objective is to explore the impact of a decreased hydraulic conductivity on the hydraulic head at the well under various scenarios of defining a basin in the model. This exploration aims to unveil how such adjustments influence the overall performance and the outcomes of the simulation.

	Base model	Introducing the basin		Change in the shape of the basin		Cha	nge in the a	area of the	basin	Change in the relative distance of the basin and the well										
N. of model	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18		
Description	(No basin)	1:1 infiltration rate	2:1 infiltration rate	Alongated transversal to flow	With shape of an arc	Increase in area	Decrease in area	Decrease in area	Decrease in area	Basin farther from well by 400 m	Basin farther from well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 400 m	Basin closer to well by 600 m	Basin closer to well by 800 m	Basin closer to well by 1000 m	Basin closer to well by 1200 m	Basin closer to well by 1400 m		
Distance of basin and well (m)	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1862.5	1662.5	1262.5	1062.5	862.5	662.5	462.5	262.5	62.5		
Basin rate (mm/y)	-	116383	232766	232766	232766	77588	931064	1939716	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870		
Basin area (m ²)	-	100x200 =20000	100x200 =20000	50x400 =20000	50x400 =20000	200x300 =60000	50x100 =5000	40x60 =2400	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 = 600		
Initial head (m)	33.470	34.188	34.893	34.966	35.047	34.894	34.966	34.982	35.010	33.857	34.429	35.607	36.225	36.868	37.546	38.293	39.232	41.177		
Final head (m)	18.074	19.472	20.607	20.704	20.808	20.605	20.702	20.727	20.763	18.900	19.923	21.455	22.006	22.411	22.676	22.794	22.754	22.550		
Draw down (m)	15.396	14.716	14.286	14.262	14.239	14.289	14.264	14.255	14.247	14.957	14.506	14.152	14.219	14.457	14.870	15.499	16.478	18.627		
Final head difference from base model (m)	-	1.39844	2.53329	2.63015	2.73422	2.53108	2.62804	2.65254	2.689193	0.826633	1.848960	3.381860	3.932056	4.337095	4.602905	4.720304	4.680315	4.475961		

Table 3-2 Model scenarios' input variables and simulation results of the scenario with low hydraulic conductivity, over a period of 20 years.

3.2.1 Effect of Introducing The Basin

Similarly to previous analyses, two models with different infiltration rates for introducing the basin were simulated, each featuring a basin with a ratio of volume infiltrated to volume abstracted of 1 and 2, respectively. The figures provided below visually depict the time-dependent plot of hydraulic heads. These plots are derived from the data recorded by a monitoring well strategically placed at the well location, over a 20-year simulation period. The first figure represent the model serves as the base, representing no infiltration, while the second figure demonstrates the model with a basin of 2:1 infiltration ratio.



Figure 3-21 Hydraulic head vs time for base model (no basin) with low hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3-22 Hydraulic head vs time for the model with 2:1 infiltration ratio and low hydraulic conductivity.

Figure 3-23Figure 3-24 illustrate the simulation outcomes following the initial cycle of water infiltration into the model, specifically at 210 days. These figures visually represent the head equipotential lines and the velocity arrows, providing insights into both the direction and magnitude of the flow. Upon comparing Figure 3-6Figure 3-24, it becomes evident that in the scenario of reduced hydraulic conductivity, there is a more pronounced rise in water levels around the basin at the conclusion of the initial infiltration cycle.



Figure 3-23 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the base model with low hydraulic conductivity after 210 days.



Figure 3-24 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio and low hydraulic conductivity after 210 days.

Figure 3-25Figure 3-26 portray the simulation outcomes after 7300 days, equivalent to a 20-year duration. These figures symbolize the conclusion of the production well's final cycle of abstraction. The visualizations present equipotential lines of hydraulic head and the magnitude and directional flow of groundwater through velocity arrows.



Figure 3-25 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the base model with low hydraulic conductivity after 7300 days.



Figure 3-26 Equipotential lines and velocity arrows for the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio and low hydraulic conductivity after 7300 days.

The figures above, representing the results after a 20-year simulation period, highlight a noticeable difference in equipotential lines around the well. In the base model, the change in equipotential lines is abrupt, attributed to the system's concerted effort to maintain a constant production rate despite the low hydraulic conductivity. Conversely, Model Number 3, featuring an infiltration rate of 2:1, exhibits a more gradual shift in equipotential lines and the water table. This is attributed to a portion of the water satisfying the production rate of 100 liters/s originating from the recharged water of the basin. With lower hydraulic conductivity, the alterations in water level and hydraulic head become more pronounced. Figure 3-27 (a) and (b) illustrate a zoomed-in view of the y-z cross-sectional plane in the vicinity of the production well, highlighting more vividly the differences between models 1 and 3 in terms of the changes in the water level and head equipotential lines after 20 years of simulation. As indicated by the figures, the drawdown is more pronounced in the base model. Furthermore, upon examining the velocity vectors in this model, their larger size indicates a higher magnitude of flow in the vicinity of the well, necessary to meet the same abstraction rate.



Figure 3-27 Cross sectional view of production well after 7300 days at (a) base model (n.1); (b) model with 2:1 infiltration rate (n.3).

Comparing the drawdown in the current scenario (with a hydraulic conductivity of 0.0005 m/s) and the one with moderate hydraulic conductivity of 0.001 m/s, where the values measure approximately 6 and 15, respectively, reveals that the drawdown is more than two times greater in the present scenario (refer to Table 3-1Table 3-2). This phenomenon arises from the decrease in hydraulic conductivity; whether we are infiltrating water or extracting it, the change in water level becomes more pronounced. This results in a higher disparity between the initial and final hydraulic head, consequently leading to an increased drawdown.

3.2.2 Effect of Change in The Shape of The Basin

We have observed that when dealing with moderate hydraulic conductivity, the shape of the basin does not play a decisive role in this study. However, as the hydraulic conductivity decreases, the changes in simulation results become more significant. This is attributed to the system exerting additional effort to meet the production rate, as the ease of water flow and the provision of the requested abstracted water become more challenging. Consequently, we have revisited the investigation into the impact of the basin's shape on the system's performance. The rationale behind this is to explore whether, as hydraulic conductivity decreases, the effect of the basin's shape becomes significant enough to be considered a decisive factor in designing the MAR project and the infiltration basin or not.

Models number 4 and 5, while sharing the same area in square meters as model number 3, differ only in their shape. Therefore, we aim to compare the final hydraulic head recorded in the production well for these three models to discern the impact of the basin's shape. According to the data presented in Table 3-2, the final hydraulic head for models number 4 and 5 is reported as 20.704 and 20.808 meters, respectively. This represents a minimal increase of approximately 1 to 2 centimeters compared to the final head of model 3, recorded as 20.607 m. As a result, it can be concluded that, even when the hydraulic conductivity is low, given a constant area, the change in shape does not significantly enhance or strongly influence the final hydraulic head. Consequently, altering the shape of the basin may not be a particularly beneficial or a worthwhile practice for improving the system's performance. However, as mentioned before, the positive aspect is that, since changing the shape does not influence the results significantly, one can adjust the shape of the basin based on land availability while maintaining a specified area in terms of square meters for the designed system.

3.2.3 Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin

In the context of altering the size of the basin, simulations have been reconducted for four predefined distinct areas: 300x200 m², 50x100 m², 40x60 m², and finally, 20x30 m². Diminishing the basin area while maintaining a constant volume of infiltrated water for all models, introduces the phenomenon of groundwater mounding and the rise of water level.

In this specific scenario, the hydraulic conductivity has been decreased. Hydraulic conductivity serves as a measure of how easily water can traverse a porous medium, such as an aquifer. A

lower hydraulic conductivity signifies reduced permeability and diminished ability of the aquifer to transmit water efficiently.

When water is introduced into an aquifer with low hydraulic conductivity, it encounters greater resistance to flow through the subsurface. Consequently, the water tends to accumulate within the aquifer, resulting in a more substantial increase in water level compared to an aquifer with higher hydraulic conductivity. Conversely, in a highly conductive aquifer, water can traverse the subsurface more effortlessly, leading to a less pronounced rise in water level due to more efficient dispersion within the porous medium. This principle holds significance in various hydrogeological applications, notably in groundwater recharge. Understanding the hydraulic properties of the aquifer becomes crucial for effective management of water resources and environmental protection. By comprehending how hydraulic conductivity influences water flow and level changes, one can make informed decisions in applications ranging from groundwater recharge strategies to broader environmental conservation efforts.

In this scenario, with the reduced hydraulic conductivity, the impact of the rise in groundwater becomes more pronounced. To ascertain whether this groundwater mounding surpasses the limit of the aquifer thickness, a monitoring well has been strategically introduced at the center of the infiltration basin. Figure 3-28 depicts the hydraulic head equipotential lines of the model after 210 days, representing the most significant rise in water level during the 20-year simulation. Additionally, Figure 3-29 illustrates the model's cross-section at the y-z plane coordinate, offering insights into the groundwater mounding at the end of the 210-day period before production from the well commences.



Figure 3-28 Hydraulic head equipotential lines map for model number 9 at 210 days with low hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3-29 Cross-sectional view of monitoring well after 210 days in the model with low hydraulic conductivity.

The aquifer reaches its highest water level of 46.3 meters at the conclusion of the initial infiltration period. This outcome assures us that the proposed basin dimensions and the applied infiltration rate can be confidently adopted without encountering any issues. When we compare the results across models number 6, 7, 8, and 9 with model number 3, it becomes evident that model number 9 outperforms others in terms of system performance and the final hydraulic head at the well. Besides its efficiency in utilizing the least possible area, model number 9 adheres to the concept of land use in defining a basin.

Given these mentioned advantages, model number 9 has been selected to further investigate the remaining sensitivity analysis in the MODFLOW. This choice is based on the model's ability to

deliver satisfactory performance, optimal land use, and favorable final hydraulic head at the well, making it a suitable candidate for a comprehensive analysis of system dynamics.

3.2.4 Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well

In this section, we explore how a combined variation in hydraulic conductivity and the relative distance between the well and the infiltration basin impacts the final hydraulic head. Our objective is to ascertain whether a decrease in hydraulic conductivity alters the optimal distance between the well and the basin, resulting in the maximum gain in hydraulic head, signifying the most substantial increase in the production well's hydraulic head.

As in previous analyses, the reference basin was initially situated 1462.5 meters away from the well. This distance was subsequently adjusted in both directions, with simulated distances of 1862.5 meters and 1625.5 meters, representing increases in distance of 400 meters and 200 meters, respectively. Subsequently, this distance was systematically reduced by 200, 400, 600, 800, 1000, 1200, and 1400 meters with respect to the reference distance. The final model in this series reached a distance of 62.5 meters from the well.

Considering the concept of water mounding, it is crucial to assess whether these changes in basin location pose any issues. After reviewing data recorded in the basin's monitoring well, it was determined that the model numbered 13, situated 400 meters closer to the well, exhibited the maximum level rise. However, this value remained below the aquifer thickness. The crosssectional area under the basin, as depicted in the figure below, confirms the safety of this model configuration. The model with the highest rise in water level is positioned far enough from both upstream (40 meters) and downstream (31 meters) boundaries, minimizing their impact on its hydraulic head rise.



Figure 3-30 Cross-sectional view of monitoring well placed at basin for model n.13.

The analysis of changing the distance between the basin and the well under reduced hydraulic conductivity aimed to evaluate the impact of these changes on the hydraulic head gain at the production well. The findings reveal that as the basin moves farther away, the increase in hydraulic head compared to the model with no basin becomes less significant. Conversely, moving the basin closer to the well leads to a more substantial gain, up to a certain distance from the well. Figure 3-31Figure 3-32 illustrate the final hydraulic head at the abstraction well and the hydraulic head gain compared to the base model over time, respectively.



Figure 3-31 Impact of changing basin-well distance on final hydraulic head in scenario with low hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3-32 Impact of changing basin-well distance on hydraulic head gain in scenario with low hydraulic conductivity.

The data presented in the figures provides valuable insights into the relationship between the proximity of the basin to the well and the resulting hydraulic head. Two critical observations stand out. First and foremost, there exists a crucial threshold concerning the distance of the basin from the well. Once this specific distance is surpassed, the increase in final hydraulic head

diminishes, indicating the presence of an optimal distance for an efficient system configuration. The figure distinctly illustrates that among the models, model n.16, with a basin distance of 462.5 from the well, represents the optimal configuration, being 1000 meters closer to the well than the reference basin. Secondly, the figures underscore an intriguing phenomenon as the basin approaches the well. As the distance between the basin and the well varies, there is an initial increase in hydraulic head up to a certain distance, but this is accompanied by a decrease in the slope of the graph. Initially, the slope is steep, indicating that if the basin is moved farther from the well, the change in the final hydraulic head is more significant. For instance, when the basin is relocated by 400 meters farther than the reference distance from the well, the change in the final hydraulic head is more evident when the basin is moved farther. Consequently, the reduction in hydraulic head (hydraulic head loss) due to distancing the basin from the well is more significant than the increase (hydraulic head gain) achieved by bringing it closer to the well.

3.3 Model Outcomes with High Hydraulic Conductivity

In this section, we have repeated some of the predefined scenarios with an increase in hydraulic conductivity to 0.002 m/s. An increase in hydraulic conductivity influences groundwater flow in various ways. Firstly, higher hydraulic conductivity allows water to disperse over a larger area, impacting the lateral extent of groundwater flow and the distribution range of recharge water within the aquifer. Secondly, increased hydraulic conductivity has a limited water storage impact, leading to quick drainage. In aquifers with high hydraulic conductivity, water tends to drain rapidly, preventing significant buildup and notable changes in hydraulic head.

Given the fact that in aquifers with high hydraulic conductivity, well production and basin recharge do not significantly affect the water elevation and hydraulic head in the well, and also considering the findings from previous investigations where the shape of the basin had negligible effects on the system's performance, this section avoids reevaluating the effect of shape of the basin on the simulation's results. Additionally, regarding evaluation the effects of the changes of the basin's dimension on the final hydraulic head, the investigation focuses only on scenarios with increased area to 200x300 square meters and decreased area to 20x30 square meters. This aims to validate whether the conclusions drawn in previous sections remain applicable when altering the basin's dimensions.

For the sake of comparability, the number of models and scenarios has been kept consistent with the previous sections, even though some scenarios will not be repeated in this section.

The sensitivity analysis in the model involves key variables including area, rate, and the distance of the basin from the well. Table 3-3 compiles data serving as input to the MODFLOW software, presenting simulation results such as the initial and final hydraulic head in the production well from the last cycle of production period at the conclusion of the 20 years, along with the drawdown in the well and the hydraulic head gain of each simulated scenario with respect to the model with no basin. These simulation outcomes offer valuable insights particularly for a system with high hydraulic conductivity into the anticipated improvement or increment in the final hydraulic head at the well throughout the 20-year simulation period.

	Base model	Introdu ba	cing the sin		in the area e basin	Change in the relative distance of the basin and the well											
N. of model	1	2	3	6	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18			
Description	(No basin)	1:1 infiltration rate	2:1 infiltration rate	Increase in area	Decrease in area	Basin farther from well by 400 m	Basin farther from well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 200 m	Basin closer to well by 400 m	Basin closer to well by 600 m	Basin closer to well by 800 m	Basin closer to well by 1000 m	Basin closer to well by 1200 m	Basin closer to well by 1400 m			
Distance of basin and well (m)	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1462.5	1862.5	1662.5	1262.5	1062.5	862.5	662.5	462.5	262.5	62.5			
Basin rate (mm/y)	-	116383	232766	77588	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870	7758870			
Basin area (m ²)	-	100x200 =20000	100x200 =20000	200x300 =60000	20x30 = 600	20x30 = 600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 =600	20x30 = 600	20x30 = 600			
Initial head (m)	34.311	34.550	34.788	34.788	34.827	34.441	34.634	35.018	35.209	35.401	35.595	35.801	36.055	36.598			
Final head (m)	31.146	31.165	31.184	31.184	31.187	31.156	31.172	31.200	31.211	31.218	31.224	31.225	31.223	31.218			
Draw down (m)	3.165	3.385	3.604	3.604	3.640	3.285	3.462	3.818	3.998	4.183	4.371	4.576	4.832	5.380			
Final head difference from base model (m)	-	0.01945	0.03878	0.03880	0.041473	0.011152	0.026618	0.054691	0.065328	0.072961	0.078271	0.079216	0.077909	0.072746			

Table 3-3 Model scenarios' input variables and simulation results of the scenario with high hydraulic conductivity, over a period of 20 years.

3.3.1 Effect of Introducing The Basin

As previously explained, in aquifers characterized by high hydraulic conductivity, the impact of both production and injection processes is minimal. This phenomenon becomes evident when examining the graphical representation of hydraulic head plotted versus time throughout the 20-year cycle of infiltration and production. Figure 3-33Figure 3-34 effectively illustrate the limited influence that the infiltration basin exerts on aquifers with elevated hydraulic conductivity levels.



Figure 3-33 Hydraulic head vs time for base model (no basin) with high hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3-34 Hydraulic head vs time for model with 2:1 infiltration ratio and high hydraulic conductivity.

From the provided figures, it can be asserted that the drawdown measures approximately 3 meters for both the base model and the model with a 2:1 infiltration ratio. The range within which the hydraulic head undergoes changes is nearly identical for both models, though with a slight difference. This observation aligns with the output results documented in Table 3-3, where the final hydraulic head for Model 1 and Model 3 is recorded as 31.146 and 31.184, respectively. Consequently, the estimated gain in hydraulic head following the introduction of an infiltration basin with double volume of the infiltrated water with respect to the produced volume, is approximately 0.04 meters.

To further examine the spatial distribution of equipotential lines and velocity vectors around the production well, a zoomed-in view of the y-z cross-sectional area of the production well is presented here. As depicted in Figure 3-35 (a) and (b), the base model exhibits a more pronounced row of velocity vectors around the well. However, the overall impact of the infiltration basin in this model is not readily discernible. As previously mentioned, in aquifers with high hydraulic conductivity, the storage capacity is minimal. Consequently, the water injected underground, instead of being produced by the well, tends to escape farther downstream, diminishing the conspicuous effects of the infiltration basin on the overall system dynamics.



Figure 3-35 Cross sectional view of production well after 7300 days at (a) base model (n.1); (b) model with 2:1 infiltration rate (n.3).

In aquifers with high hydraulic conductivity, water injected underground, for example, through the process of artificial recharge or infiltration from a basin, tends to move rapidly through the aquifer. Instead of being retained within the aquifer for an extended period, the water quickly travels downstream. This rapid movement minimizes the water's residence time in the aquifer, and it may not be captured by the production well before reaching farther downstream.

The statement is highlighting that in such aquifers, the injected water does not contribute significantly to the water available for extraction by the production well. Instead, it quickly moves through the aquifer and escapes downstream, diminishing the noticeable effects of the infiltration basin on the overall behavior of the groundwater system.
3.3.2 Effect of Change in The Dimensions of The Basin

In this exploration focused on the basin's area, the baseline configuration starts with a reference basin dimension of $100x200 \text{ m}^2$. The primary objective is to investigate the implications of altering the basin's area, leading to the consideration of two specific scenarios. In the first instance (model n.6), the basin's area is intentionally increased, stretching out to $200x300 \text{ m}^2$. Conversely, the second scenario (model n.9) involves a deliberate reduction in the basin's dimensions, shrinking down to $20x30 \text{ m}^2$.

It is crucial to note that, in both scenarios, the front of the basin is consistently positioned at the same location, maintaining an equal distance from the abstraction well. This deliberate standardization eliminates the variable of distance in this specific examination. Therefore, the focus remains squarely on the impact of altering the basin's area while keeping the distance unchanged. The significance of this detail lies in isolating the effect of area variation, contributing valuable insights to the understanding of system dynamics under such specified conditions.

The investigation into the basin's area delves into two critical factors, each holding significance in optimizing the overall system performance. The first consideration revolves around the potential increase in the final hydraulic head, a factor that based on which fundamentally influences the choice of the optimal area for designing the system. Secondly, the examination brings into focus the importance of land use. A smaller basin area is not only conducive to efficient land utilization but also aligns with the goal of preserving valuable land resources.

Analyzing the results detailed in Table 3-3, the reported gain in hydraulic head for scenarios featuring basin areas of 200x300 m² and 20x30 m² stands at 0.0388 and 0.0414 meters, respectively. Model number 9, despite having an area 100 times smaller than model number 6, which is significant for land use considerations, it also exhibits better performance in the simulation results. Although the numerical discrepancy between the hydraulic head gains in two mentioned models is marginal, it still holds the importance that a basin with a smaller area exhibits a slightly superior performance in elevating the hydraulic head at the well. This finding holds profound implications, suggesting that choosing a basin with a smaller area proves to be a smart choice, not only in terms of optimizing land utilization but also in achieving improved water levels at the end of the last cycle of water production. This understanding underscores the intricate interplay between basin dimensions, land use considerations, and their collective impact on the overall effectiveness of the system.

3.3.3 Effect of Change in The Relative Distance of The Basin and The Well

In this section, we aim to investigate the variation in hydraulic head at the end of the simulation by altering the distance from the well to the basin where water is being recharged to compensate for the water level loss due to production. Given the high hydraulic conductivity in this scenario, concerns about the recharged water surpassing the aquifer thickness are alleviated. Nevertheless, it is valuable to explore the distance from the well at which the basin will induce the maximum rise in water level in the aquifer and determine whether this distance aligns with scenarios featuring different hydraulic conductivity.

Upon comparing the maximum hydraulic head achieved in the underlying aquifer, it was observed that the highest water elevation in the aquifer occurred for model n.10, where the basin is situated 1862.5 meters away from the well or, in other words, has been moved farther upstream by 400 meters compared to the reference distance of the basin-well in model n.9. The accompanying figure provides a zoomed-in view of the cross-sectional plane just below the basin, illustrating that the water is significantly distant from reaching the surface.



Figure 3-36 Cross-sectional view of monitoring well placed at basin for model n.10 with high hydraulic conductivity.

The examination of varying the distance between the basin and the well, coupled with an increase in hydraulic conductivity, sought to assess the impact of these combined variations on hydraulic head gain at the production well. The results demonstrate that increasing the distance of the basin with respect to the reference distance (of model n.9) leads to a diminishing increase in hydraulic head. Conversely, bringing the basin closer to the well results in a more substantial gain, reaching a maximum at a certain distance from the well, following by a decline at the end. Figure 3-37Figure 3-38 depict the final hydraulic head at the abstraction well and the hydraulic head gain compared to the base model over time, respectively.

The data presented in the figures offers valuable insights into the correlation between the proximity of the basin to the well and the resulting hydraulic head. The graph's anticline-like shape indicates that bringing the basin too close to the well has limitations, and beyond a certain threshold, the gain decreases. Model n.16, with a basin distance of 462.5 meters from the well, emerges as the optimal configuration, being 1000 meters closer to the well than the reference basin. Bringing the basin even closer to the well has an opposite effect. Another notable observation from the figures is the initial sharp slope of the graph. When the basin is farther upstream, even a small change in distance contributes to a relatively significant alteration in hydraulic head gain. As the basin approaches the well, the influence of change in the distance becomes less pronounced.



Figure 3-37 Impact of changing basin-well distance on final hydraulic head in scenario with high hydraulic conductivity.



Figure 3-38 Impact of changing basin-well distance on hydraulic head gain in scenario with high hydraulic conductivity.

3.4 Hydraulic Head Gain and Its Effect on Increasing The Abstraction Rate

The primary objective of this study is to explore the changes in final hydraulic head of an abstraction well under influence of different scenarios. The specific goals are as follows:

- Evaluate MAR Method Performance: Assess the effectiveness and efficiency of the Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) method under investigation. This method involved off-seasonal aquifer recharge through an infiltration basin positioned at a specific distance from the well.
- Quantify Variable Influence: Examine the degree of impact each variable had on the system's performance and final hydraulic head. The variables considered included variations in the hydraulic conductivity value, the presence of the infiltration basin and changes in its recharge rate, as well as modifications to the well-basin configuration such as alterations in shape, area, and distance.
- Optimize Abstraction Rate with Basin Influence: Determine, in the event of an increase in the hydraulic head of the production well due to the presence of the basin, the extent to which the abstraction rate in the well can be elevated. The aim was to leverage the raised water level achieved by introducing the basin as a means to apply a higher

production rate in the well while maintaining the same final hydraulic head as a scenario without a basin.

In particular, the introduction of the basin served the purpose of elevating the water level in the well. The gained hydraulic head was intended to be utilized as a factor enabling an increase in the abstraction rate from the well. This strategy aimed to achieve a higher production rate while ensuring that the final hydraulic head matched the scenario without a basin.

Therefore, in this phase of the study, our focus is on determining the increased production rates for optimal scenarios associated with various hydraulic conductivity values obtained in our simulations. The objective is to quantify the potential increase in production rate influenced by specific hydraulic conductivity conditions.

To achieve this, we have selected the model with the highest gain in final hydraulic head from the 18 different scenarios simulated for various hydraulic conductivity values. Identifying optimal scenarios for each hydraulic conductivity value allows us to compare and pinpoint the most effective configurations leading to a gain in hydraulic head in the production well. Subsequently, our analysis extends to calculating the extent by which we can augment the production rate while maintaining the desired final hydraulic head.

Model n.16 exhibited the maximum gain in hydraulic head among all scenarios considered for different hydraulic conductivity values. The table below presents the characteristics of this model in each scenario, along with the increased production rate, determined through a process of trial and error, while ensuring the final water level at the well matches that of the model without a basin, which serves as the target hydraulic head, as presented in the table.

N. of model	Hydraulic conductivity of system	Final hydraulic head	Target hydraulic head	Hydraulic head gain	Initial production rate		Increased production rate	
16 -	(m/s)	(m)	(m)	(m)	l/s	m³/d	l/s	m ³ /d
	0.0005	22.794	18.074	4.72			117.7	10170
	0.001	28.425	27.742	0.683	100	8640	109.4	9450
	0.002	31.225	31.145	0.080			102.4	8850

Table 3-4 Computation of increased production rate for various hydraulic conductivity scenarios.

As indicated in Table 3-4, the abstraction rate in the well can be enhanced by 1530, 810, and 210 m3/d for scenarios with low, moderate, and high hydraulic conductivity, respectively. Consequently, we deduce that the introduction of a basin in a partially low-conductive aquifer can lead to a more substantial gain, ordered by an increase in the daily production rate.

However, it is essential to note that in aquifers characterized by low hydraulic conductivity, exceeding a certain threshold in production rate can lead to system failure. This is attributed to the aquifer's limited capacity to provide the requested rate at the well. Therefore, careful consideration is warranted to ensure that the production rate remains within the sustainable limits of the aquifer, preventing potential adverse consequences on system performance.

This analysis will shed light on the benefits and feasibility of utilizing the basin-induced gain in hydraulic head to enhance groundwater abstraction rates in an environmentally sustainable manner. This computation is crucial as it provides practical insights into the potential benefits of introducing infiltration basins, especially in the context of managing aquifer recharge and groundwater abstraction. The results will contribute to the understanding of how variations in hydraulic conductivity, coupled with the presence of a basin, can be leveraged to optimize groundwater extraction rates in a sustainable and controlled manner. This optimization aligns with the overarching goal of enhancing water resource management practices based on the unique hydrogeological conditions encountered in the study area.

3.5 Comparing Model Outcomes under Varied Hydraulic Conductivity Conditions

Upon comparing the outcomes derived from the simulations as presented in Table 3-1Table 3-2Table 3-3, several noteworthy conclusions emerge:

- 1. **Optimal Distance Insensitivity to Hydraulic Conductivity:** Alterations in hydraulic conductivity do not influence the optimal distance between the basin and the well. This implies a consistent relationship between these two elements, indicating that the configuration's optimality remains unaltered despite changes in hydraulic conductivity.
- 2. Enhanced Basin Efficiency in Low Conductive Aquifers: The study reveals that the introduction of a basin in a low-conductive aquifer results in the highest efficiency. This underscores the efficacy of infiltration basins in enhancing groundwater conditions, particularly in aquifers characterized by lower inherent conductivity.
- 3. Factors Influencing Groundwater Mounding Location: The location of the highest groundwater mounding is intricately influenced by factors such as the hydraulic conductivity of the system, constant boundary conditions, recharge rate of the basin, and resulting changes in water level along the basin. This interplay culminates in a rise in hydraulic head. In scenarios where the rise is substantial, the basin induces the greatest groundwater mounding at a location maintaining a reasonable distance from both

upstream and downstream boundaries. Conversely, when the rise is less pronounced, optimal basin placement is closer to the upstream boundary, exhibiting a higher constant hydraulic head, resulting in the highest groundwater mounding.

- 4. Insignificant Role of Basin Shape in Final Hydraulic Head: The shape of the basin has minimal impact on the final hydraulic head at the production well. This finding offers practical benefits, allowing basin configuration based on land availability without concerns that it might adversely affect system behavior.
- 5. Effects on Initial and Final Hydraulic Head of The Well with Basin Introduction: The introduction of an infiltration basin into the system influences both the initial and final hydraulic head of the well during its last production cycle. This is particularly evident in the last 155-day of production period, spanning from day 7145 to 7300 in the 20th year of simulation. The increase in initial and final hydraulic head varies across different hydraulic conductivity scenarios. For moderate and low hydraulic conductivity, the drawdown after basin introduction increases compared to the model with no basin. However, in the low hydraulic conductivity scenario, although both initial and final head increase, the drawdown is less than the base model due to a lower rate of increase in initial head compared to the rate of increasing the final head.
- 6. **Precision Required for Low Hydraulic Conductivity Aquifers:** In aquifers with low hydraulic conductivity, precision is crucial when introducing a basin with a small area while maintaining a high infiltration rate. This is particularly significant as groundwater mounding poses the most significant limitation in such porous mediums.
- 7. Benefits of Reducing Basin Area for Sustainable Land Use: The reduction of the basin's area proved beneficial for improving the final hydraulic head while aligning with the concept of sustainable land use. Emphasizing the reduction of the basin's footprint represented a thoughtful response to the intricate interplay of hydrological considerations and broader ecological landscapes, aligning the study's objectives with sustainable land management practices.

These insights contribute to a comprehensive understanding of the complex interactions within the aquifer system, guiding decisions in aquifer management and sustainable groundwater resource utilization.

4 Conclusions

The thesis provides simulation results depicting the impact of a seasonal infiltration basin on a production well, aimed at supplying water for an agricultural field under various scenarios. These scenarios encompass changes in the model's hydraulic conductivity, the basin's infiltration rate, basin's shape, area, and the relative distance between the basin and the well. A variety of simulations conducted utilizing MODFLOW 2011 have yielded a multitude of noteworthy insights and revelations.

The findings underscore the significant influence of both the volume of infiltrated water and the relative distance between the well and basin on the performance of the production well. Notably, the shape of the basin exhibited minimal impact on the outcomes, demonstrating its adaptable nature and allowing configuration of the infiltration basin based on land availability without adversely affecting system's behavior. Similarly, when infiltrating the same volume of water, the basin's area showed negligible effects on the results, albeit with a slight rise in water levels as the area decreased. Owing to this observation, minimizing the basin's area remains crucial for land use considerations, aligning with sustainable practices and emphasizing the need for thoughtful basin configuration.

Furthermore, the study unveiled the optimal distance between the basin and well remains insensitive to changes in hydraulic conductivity, demonstrating a consistent relationship between these elements. This stability in configuration optimality persists despite variations in hydraulic conductivity. Additionally, the location of the highest groundwater mounding was shown to be a complex interplay influenced by various factors, including hydraulic conductivity, boundary conditions, and recharge rate. These insights underscore the multifaceted nature of groundwater dynamics and the importance of considering diverse factors in aquifer management.

Lastly, the investigation demonstrates that implementing a basin within a low-conductive aquifer yields the highest efficiency, particularly in enhancing the production rate at the well. This emphasizes the positive impact of infiltration basins in enhancing groundwater conditions, especially in challenging hydrogeological settings.

References

- P. Dillon, P. Pavelic, D. Page, H. Beringen, and J. Ward, "Managed aquifer recharge: An Introduction," 2009.
- Y. Wada, L. P. H. Van Beek, C. M. Van Kempen, J. W. T. M. Reckman, S. Vasak, and M. F. P. Bierkens, "Global depletion of groundwater resources," *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, vol. 37, no. 20, pp. 1–5, 2010.
- [3] B. K. Arsiso, M. G. Tsidu, G. H. Stoffberg, and T. Tadesse, "Climate change and population growth impacts on surface water supply and demand of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia," *Clim. Risk Manag.*, vol. 18, pp. 21–33, 2017.
- [4] H. Heidari, M. Arabi, T. Warziniack, and S. Sharvelle, "Effects of Urban Development Patterns on Municipal Water Shortage," *Front. Water*, vol. 3, no. July, pp. 1–11, 2021.
- [5] M. Kirby and M. Mainuddin, "The impact of climate change, population growth and development on sustainable water security in Bangladesh to 2100," *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2022.
- [6] H. Chunyang *et al.*, "Future global urban water scarcity and potential solutions," *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2021.
- [7] T. Gleeson, Y. Wada, M. F. P. Bierkens, and L. P. H. van Beek, "Water balance of global aquifers revealed by groundwater footprint," *Nature*, vol. 488, no. 7410, pp. 197–200, 2012.
- [8] I. Gale and P. Dillon, Strategies for Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) in semi-arid areas. United Nations Educational, Scientifi c and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), 2005.
- [9] H. Bouwer, "Artificial recharge of groundwater: Hydrogeology and engineering," *Hydrogeol. J.*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 121–142, 2002.
- B. J. Minsley, J. Ajo-Franklin, A. Mukhopadhyay, and F. D. Morgan, "Hydrogeophysical Methods for Analyzing Aquifer Storage and Recovery Systems," *Ground Water*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 250–269, Mar. 2011.
- [11] M. Velis, K. I. Conti, and F. Biermann, "Groundwater and human development : synergies and trade-offs within the context of the sustainable development goals," *Sustain. Sci.*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 1007–1017, 2017.
- [12] A. J. Jakeman, O. Barreteau, R. J. Hunt, J.-D. Rinaudo, and A. Ross, *Integrated Groundwater Management*, 1st ed. Springer Open, 2016.
- [13] F. Händel, G. Liu, P. Dietrich, R. Liedl, and J. J. Butler, "Numerical assessment of ASR recharge using small-diameter wells and surface basins.," J. Hydrol., vol. 517, pp. 54–63,

2014.

- [14] G. Mahed, "How we can 'bank' water underground for use later on," *The conversation*, 2019.
 [Online]. Available: https://theconversation.com/how-we-can-bank-water-underground-for-use-later-on-110202.
- [15] A. Imig, Z. Szabó, O. Halytsia, M. Vrachioli, V. Kleinert, and A. Rein, "A review on risk assessment in managed aquifer recharge," *Integr. Environ. Assess. Manag.*, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 1513–1529, Nov. 2022.
- [16] C. Sprenger, M. Hernández, E. Vilanova, S. Gonzalez, Beatriz de laLoma Hannappel, C. Remy, and A. B. Szendrenyi, "Managing Aquifer Recharge- Subsurface Treatment, Storage and Recovery," 2017.
- [17] A. Imig and A. Rein, "Transnational desicion support toolbox for designating potential MAR location in Central Europe - D.T2.4.3," DEEPWATER-CE, no. 8, 2020.
- [18] Landscope Ltd. (EE), "Transnational Guidlines For Better MAR Adoption in CE Region Legislation and Strategy - D.T4.2.1," 2021.
- [19] J. D. H. Casas, E. F. Escalante, R. C. Gil, and F. Ayuga, "Managed Aquifer Recharge as a Low-Regret Measure for Climate Change Adaptation: Insights from Los Arenales, Spain," *Water*, vol. 14, no. 22, 2022.
- [20] P. Dillon *et al.*, "Sixty years of global progress in managed aquifer recharge," *Hydrogeol. J.*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 1–30, 2019.
- [21] C. Stefan and N. Ansems, "Web-based global inventory of managed aquifer recharge applications," *Sustain. Water Resour. Manag.*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 153–162, 2018.
- [22] J. Yuan, M. I. Van Dyke, and P. M. Huck, "Water reuse through managed aquifer recharge (MAR): Assessment of regulations/guidelines and case studies," *Water Qual. Res. J. Canada*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 357–376, 2016.
- [23] "the International Groundwater Resources Assessment Centre (IGRAC)." [Online]. Available: https://www.un-igrac.org/.
- [24] "The Global Groundwater Information System (GGIS)." [Online]. Available: https://ggis.un-igrac.org/.
- [25] IGRAC, "MAR portal on International Groundwater Resources Assessment Centre." [Online]. Available: https://ggis.un-igrac.org/view/marportal/.
- [26] C. Sprenger *et al.*, "Inventory of managed aquifer recharge sites in Europe: historical development, current situation and perspectives," *Hydrogeol. J.*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 1909– 1922, 2017.

- [27] J. Bear, M. S. Beljin, and R. R. Ross, "Fundamentals of Ground-Water Modeling," United States Environ. Prot. Agency, pp. 1–11, 1992.
- [28] S. E. Serrano and T. E. Unny, "Predicting Groundwater Flow in a Phreatic Aquifer," vol. 95, pp. 241–268, 1987.
- [29] D. G. Harwood, "What is Groundwater Modeling and Why it is Important For Your Project?" [Online]. Available: https://www.verdantas.com/blog/what-is-groundwatermodeling-and-why-it-is-important-for-your-project.
- [30] J. R. Stedinger, B. F. Sule, and D. P. Loucks, "Stochastic dynamic programming models for reservoir operation optimization," *Water Resour. Res.*, vol. 20, no. 11, pp. 1499–1505, 1984.
- [31] A. Darban, M. Ghaedi, and J. Qajar, "Analysis of the impacts of relative permeability and mobility ratio on heterogeneity loss error during upscaling of geological models," *Oil Gas Sci. Technol.*, vol. 75, no. 3, 2020.
- [32] S. Robinson, Simulation : the practice of model development and use. 2004.
- [33] J. Ringleb, J. Sallwey, and C. Stefan, "Assessment of managed aquifer recharge through modeling-A review," *Water (Switzerland)*, vol. 8, no. 12, pp. 1–31, 2016.
- [34] P. Dillon, "Future management of aquifer recharge," *Hydrogeol. J.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 313–316, 2005.
- [35] J. Casanova, N. Devau, and M. Pettenati, "Managed Aquifer Recharge: An Overview of Issues and Options BT - Integrated Groundwater Management: Concepts, Approaches and Challenges," A. J. Jakeman, O. Barreteau, R. J. Hunt, J.-D. Rinaudo, and A. Ross, Eds. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2016, pp. 413–434.
- [36] United Nation (UN-Water), "Summary Progress Update 2021: SDG 6 water and sanitation for all," UN-Water Integr. Monit. Initiat., pp. 1–58, 2021.
- [37] T. Wintgens, R. Hochstrat, C. Kazner, P. Jeffrey, B. Jefferson, and T. Melin, "Managed aquifer recharge as a component of sustainable water strategies-a brief guidance for EU policies," in *Sustainable application of aquifer recharge*, London UK: IWA Publishing, 2009, pp. 411–429.
- [38] G. Gruetzmacher and P. J. S. Kumar, "Introduction to Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) Overview of schemes and settings world wide," *ResearhGate*, no. May, 2014.
- [39] M. Patekar and M. Filipović, "Collection of Good Practices and Benchmark Analysis on MAR Solutions in The EU - D.T1.2.1," 2020.
- [40] S. Bandyopadhyay, A. Sharma, S. Sahoo, K. Dhavala, and P. Sharma, "Potential for

Aquifer Storage and Recovery (ASR) in South Bihar, India," *Sustainability*, vol. 13, no. 6, 2021.

- [41] J. Vanderzalm, D. Page, P. Dillon, D. Gonzalez, and C. Petheram, "Assessing the costs of Managed Aquifer Recharge options to support agricultural development," *Agric. Water Manag.*, vol. 263, p. 107437, 2022.
- [42] P. Dillon, E. F. Escalante, S. B. Megdal, and G. Massmann, "Managed aquifer recharge for water resilience," *Water (Switzerland)*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 1–11, 2020.
- [43] R. G. Maliva, "Economics of managed aquifer recharge," *Water (Switzerland)*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 1257–1279, 2014.
- [44] P. Dillon *et al.*, "Managed aquifer recharge: rediscovering nature as a leading edge technology," *Water Sci. Technol.*, vol. 62, no. 10, pp. 2338–2345, 2010.
- [45] S. Alam, A. Borthakur, S. Ravi, M. Gebremichael, and S. K. Mohanty, "Managed aquifer recharge implementation criteria to achieve water sustainability," *Sci. Total Environ.*, vol. 768, p. 144992, 2021.
- [46] S. Foster, R. C. Gogu, and J. Gathu, "Urban Groundwater-mobilising stakeholders to improve monitoring, The Source," *The Source*, no. 4, pp. 58–62, 2019.
- [47] B. Scanlon, R. Healy, and P. Cook, "Choosing Appropriate Techniques for Quantifying Groundwater Recharge," *Hydrogeol. J.*, vol. 10, pp. 18–39, Feb. 2002.
- [48] E. Salameh, G. Abdallat, and M. van der Valk, "Planning Considerations of Managed Aquifer Recharge (MAR) Projects in Jordan," *Water*, vol. 11, no. 2. 2019.
- [49] J. Bear and A. H. D. Cheng, "Modeling Groundwater Flow and Contaminant Transport," Springer Sci. Bus. Media, vol. 23, 2010.
- [50] R. Connor and M. Miletto, "The United Nations World Water Development Report 2015: Water for a Sustainable World," 2015.
- [51] S. I. Seneviratne *et al.*, "Weather and Climate Extreme Events in a Changing Climate. In Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change," 2021.
- [52] R. G. Niswonger, E. D. Morway, E. Triana, and J. L. Huntington, "Managed aquifer recharge through off-season irrigation in agricultural regions," *Water Resour. Res.*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 6970–6992, 2017.
- [53] E. Levintal, M. L. Kniffin, Y. Ganot, N. Marwaha, N. P. Murphy, and H. E. Dahlke, "Agricultural managed aquifer recharge (Ag-MAR)—a method for sustainable groundwater management: A review," *Crit. Rev. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 53, no. 3, pp.

291-314, 2023.

- [54] P. A. M. Bachand, S. B. Roy, J. Choperena, D. Cameron, and W. R. Horwath, "Implications of Using On-Farm Flood Flow Capture To Recharge Groundwater and Mitigate Flood Risks Along the Kings River, CA," *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 48, no. 23, pp. 13601–13609, Dec. 2014.
- [55] A. T. O'Geen *et al.*, "Soil suitability index identifies potential areas for groundwater banking on agricultural lands," *Calif. Agric.*, vol. 69, no. 2, pp. 75–84, Apr. 2015.
- [56] T. Harter and H. E. Dahlke, "Out of sight but not out of mind: California refocuses on groundwater," *Calif. Agric.*, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 54–55, Jul. 2014.
- [57] H. E. Dahlke, A. Brown, S. Orloff, D. H. Putnam, and T. O'Geen, "Managed winter flooding of alfalfa recharges groundwater with minimal crop damage," *Calif. Agric.*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 65–75, Mar. 2018.
- [58] H. Waterhouse *et al.*, "Agricultural managed aquifer recharge water quality factors to consider," *Calif. Agric.*, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 144–154, Oct. 2020.
- [59] Y. Ganot and H. E. Dahlke, "Natural and forced soil aeration during agricultural managed aquifer recharge," *Vadose Zo. J.*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 1–19, 2021.
- [60] M. P. Anderson, W. W. Woessner, and R. J. Hunt, *Applied groundwater modeling: simulation of flow and advective transport*. Academic press, 2015.
- [61] M. Lancia, M. Petitta, C. Zheng, and M. Saroli, "Hydrogeological insights and modelling for sustainable use of a stressed carbonate aquifer in the Mediterranean area: From passive withdrawals to active management," *J. Hydrol. Reg. Stud.*, vol. 32, p. 100749, Dec. 2020.
- [62] C. D. Nguyen, H. Araki, H. Yamanishi, and K. Koga, "Simulation of groundwater flow and environmental effects resulting from pumping," *Environ. Geol.*, vol. 47, no. 3, pp. 361– 374, Feb. 2005.
- [63] V. Singhal and R. Goyal, "Development of conceptual groundwater flow model for Pali Area, India," *African J. Environ. Sci. Technol.*, vol. 5, pp. 1085–1092, Dec. 2012.
- [64] Y. Zhou and W. Li, "A review of regional groundwater flow modeling," *Geosci. Front.*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 205–214, 2011.
- [65] J. Sun, L. Hu, D. Li, K. Sun, and Z. Yang, "Data-driven models for accurate groundwater level prediction and their practical significance in groundwater management," *J. Hydrol.*, vol. 608, p. 127630, 2022.
- [66] D. MacEwan, M. Cayar, A. Taghavi, D. Mitchell, S. Hatchett, and R. Howitt, "Hydroeconomic modeling of sustainable groundwater management," *Water Resour. Res.*

Res., vol. 53, pp. 2348–2403, 2017.

- [67] P. Reed, B. Minsker, and A. J. Valocchi, "Cost-effective long-term groundwater monitoring design using a genetic algorithm and global mass interpolation," *Water Resour. Res.*, vol. 36, no. 12, pp. 3731–3741, 2000.
- [68] K. Norouzi Khatiri, B. Nematollahi, S. Hafeziyeh, M. H. Niksokhan, M. R. Nikoo, and G. Al-Rawas, "Groundwater Management and Allocation Models: A Review," *Water*, vol. 15, no. 2. 2023.
- [69] M. G. McDonald and A. W. Harbaugh, "A modular three-dimensional finite-difference ground-water flow model," 1988.
- [70] V. Hariharan and M. Uma Shankar, "A review of visual modflow applications in groundwater modelling," *IOP Conf. Ser. Mater. Sci. Eng.*, vol. 263, no. 3, 2017.
- [71] A. W. Harbaugh, "MODFLOW-2005, The U.S. Geological Survey Modular Ground-Water Model," 2005.
- [72] D. K. Todd and L. W. Mays, *Groundwater Hydrology*, Third edit. John Willey & Sons, 2005.
- [73] E. Borgonovo, M. Pangallo, J. Rivkin, L. Rizzo, and N. Siggelkow, "Sensitivity analysis of agent-based models: a new protocol," *Comput. Math. Organ. Theory*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 52– 94, 2022.
- [74] A. Rappaport, "Sensitivity Analysis in Decision Making," *Account. Rev.*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 441–456, Jan. 1967.
- [75] S. Razavi *et al.*, "The Future of Sensitivity Analysis: An essential discipline for systems modeling and policy support," *Environ. Model. Softw.*, vol. 137, no. January 2021, p. 104954, 2021.
- [76] S. W. H. Al-Muqdadi, R. Abo, M. O. Khattab, and F. M. Abdulhussein, "Groundwater Flow-Modeling and Sensitivity Analysis in a Hyper Arid Region," *Water*, vol. 12, no. 8. 2020.
- [77] S. F. R. Khadri and C. Pande, "Ground water flow modeling for calibrating steady state using MODFLOW software: a case study of Mahesh River basin, India," *Model. Earth Syst. Environ.*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2016.
- [78] The Interstate Technology Regulatory Council (ITRC), "Injection Well Fact Sheet (FS-3)." [Online]. Available: https://mar-1.itrcweb.org/injection-well-fact-sheet-fs-3/.